MASTER AGREEMENT BETWEEN

CADILLAC AREA PUBLIC SCHOOLS AND CADILLAC EDUCATION ASSOCIATION, MEA/NEA

September 1, 2006 - August 31, 2008

83010 08 31 2008 CEA MEA EX

MASTER AGREEMENT BETWEEN CADILLAC AREA PUBLIC SCHOOLS

AND

CADILLAC EDUCATION ASSOCIATION, MEA/NEA September 1, 2006 - August 31, 2008

Table of Contents

Agreement		1
Article I	Recognition	1
Article II	Board's Rights	3
Article III	Association Rights	4
Article IV	Fair Employment Practices	5
Article V	Compensation and School Calendar	5
Article VI	Teaching Hours	9
Article VII	Teaching Loads and Assignments	11
Article VIII	Teaching Conditions	12
Article IX	Vacancies and Transfers	15
Article X	Leaves of Absence	16
Article XI	Protection of Teachers	23
Article XII	Negotiation Procedures	24
Article XIII	Grievance Procedure	25
Article XIV	Completion of Agreement	27
Article XV	Insurance	28
Article XVI	Teacher Evaluation	30
Article XVII	Reduction In Personnel	33
Article XVIII	Miscellaneous Provisions	35

Article XIX	Length of Contract36	
Schedule A	Salary Schedules	
Schedule B	2006-08	
Schedule C	School Calendar 2006-07	
Addendum 1	Alternative Education Program Teachers46	
Addendum 2	ADHSC49	
Schedule A	ADHSC52	
Appendix E-1	Letter of Understanding53	
Appendix E-2	Retirement Supplement Stipend54	
Appendix F	Statement of Intent56	
Appendix G	Summer School Intercession57	
	Letter of Agreement 59	
	Letter of Understanding60	

Agreement

This Agreement entered into this 18th day of October, 2006, by and between the Board of Education of Cadillac Area Public Schools, Wexford, Osceola, and Lake Counties, Michigan (hereinafter called "Board") and Cadillac Education Association, MEA/NEA, (hereinafter called "Association").

WHEREAS, the Board of Education has a statutory obligation pursuant to Act 336 of Public Acts of 1947, as amended, to negotiate with the Association with respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment or other conditions of employment for the bargaining unit hereinafter specified and the parties through negotiations and good faith have reached an understanding pursuant thereto, now desire to execute this contract covering such Agreement.

Article I Recognition

A. The Board hereby recognizes the Association as exclusive bargaining representative for the purpose of Act 336 of P.A. of 1947, as amended, for the following described bargaining unit:

All full-time and regularly employed part-time certified teachers, adult daytime high school completion teachers, alternative education program teachers, and school social workers employed by the Board, excluding there from substitute teachers, non-regularly employed part-time teachers and non-teaching supervisors such as, but not necessarily limited to, superintendent of schools, administrative assistants, business manager, principals, athletic director, curriculum coordinator, guidance, reading, math, special education, community education directors, and all non-certified employees.

B. Definitions:

- 1. The term "teacher" when hereafter used in this Agreement, shall refer to all employees represented by the Association in the bargaining unit or in the negotiating unit as above defined except adult daytime high school completion and alternative education program teachers' rights which shall be as defined in the addenda attached hereto.
- 2. The term "Board" shall include its officers and members and/or its agents.
- C. The Board agrees not to negotiate with any teachers' organizations other than the Association for the above described bargaining unit for the duration of this Agreement. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to prohibit an individual teacher from presenting a grievance and having the grievance adjusted without intervention of the Association if the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of the Agreement providing that the Association has been given the opportunity to be present at such adjustment.

D. Association Dues:

- 1. Each bargaining unit member, as a condition of employment, shall either:
 - a. on or before thirty (30) days from the date of commencement of duties or the effective date of this agreement, whichever is later, join the Association, and sign and deliver to the Board an assignment authorizing deduction of membership dues of the Association (including the National and Michigan Education Associations) and such authorization shall continue from year to year unless revoked in writing, OR

- b. pay a representation benefit fee to the Association, pursuant to the Association's "Policy Regarding Objections to Political-Ideological Expenditures" and the Association's administrative procedures adopted pursuant to that policy. The representation benefit fee shall not exceed the amount of the Association dues collected from Association members. The bargaining unit member may pay such fee directly to the Association or authorize payment through payroll deduction, as herein provided. In the event that the bargaining unit member shall not pay such representation benefit fee directly to the Association or authorize payment through payroll deduction, the employer shall, upon completion of the procedures contained in paragraph 3 and pursuant to MCLA 408.477; MSA 17.277(7) and at the request of the Association, deduct the representation benefit fee from the bargaining unit member's wages and remit same to the Association, OR
- c. If contributions to a union violates a teacher's religious convictions, the representation benefit fee shall be paid into a fund administered by the Association and used exclusively towards the student assistance fund purposes. In order to invoke the provisions of this paragraph, it shall be necessary to file with the superintendent's office a written statement declaring that the payment of the representation fee to the Association violates the teacher's religious convictions.
- 2. The Association has established a "Policy Regarding Objections to Political-Ideological Expenditures." That policy (a copy of which shall be provided each non-union bargaining unit member by the Association), and the administrative procedures (including the timetable for payment) pursuant thereto, applies only to non-union bargaining unit members. The remedies set forth in such procedures, including any administrative or judicial review thereof, having been availed of and exhausted, no dispute, claim or complaint by an objecting bargaining unit member concerning the application and interpretation of this Article shall be subject to the grievance procedure set forth in this Agreement or to any other administrative or judicial procedure.
- 3. The Association, in all cases of mandatory fee deduction pursuant to MCLA 408.477; MSA 17.277(7), shall notify the teacher of noncompliance by certified mail, return receipt requested. Said notice shall detail the noncompliance and shall provide ten (10) days for compliance and shall further advise the recipient that a request for wage deduction may be filed with the Board in the event compliance is not effected. If the teacher fails to remit the service fee or authorize deduction for same, the Association may request the Board to make the deduction. The Board, upon receipt of the request for an involuntary deduction, shall provide the teacher with an opportunity for a due process hearing limited to the question of whether or not the teacher has remitted the service fee to the Association or authorized payroll deduction for same.
- 4. Due to certain requirements established in recent court decisions, the parties acknowledge that the amount of the fee charged to non-members, along with other required information, may not be available and transmitted to non-members until mid school year. Consequently, the parties agree that the procedure in the article relating to the payment or nonpayment of the representation fee by non-members shall be activated thirty (30) days following the Association's notification to non-members of the fee for that given school year. In such event, it is agreed that the employee remains obligated for the entire annual representation fee.
- 5. Regular dues or service fees for any or all of the above stated organizations shall be deducted together, as one deduction, in ten (10) equal monthly installments.
- 6. Dues or service fees authorization filed with the superintendent on or before the 18th day of September of each year, shall become effective with the first scheduled dues

- deduction of the coming school year. Dues authorizations filed after the 18th day of September shall be deducted from the first five (5) pay periods of the second semester.
- 7. Dues or service fees authorizations once filed with the superintendent shall continue in effect until a revocation form in writing and signed by the teacher is filed with the superintendent and the treasurer of the Association. Annual authorization for political contributions shall be filed by the employee.
- 8. The Association shall on or before the first day of each school year, give written notification to the superintendent of the amount of its dues or service fees and those of the MEA and NEA which dues are to be deducted in the coming school year under such dues authorizations. The amounts of deductions may only be changed once during the school year upon thirty (30) day written notice, it being understood that dues or service fee changes must be applied uniformly and continue for the balance of the school year. The Association shall assume the responsibility for supplying necessary additional authorizations.
- 9. For the purpose of this Article, the term "school year" shall include the period beginning with the first teacher working day of school in the fall through the last teacher working day of school in the spring.
- 10. Dues or service fee deductions shall be transmitted by the superintendent to the Cadillac Education Association Treasurer within ten (10) days after such deductions are made.
- 11. All refunds claimed for dues or service fees of the Cadillac Education Association, MEA or NEA under such dues authorizations shall lie solely with the Association. The Association agrees to reimburse any teacher for the amount of any dues or service fees deducted by the Board and paid to the Association, which deduction is by error in excess of the proper deduction and agrees to hold the Board harmless from all claims of excessive dues or service fee deductions.
- 12. Any dispute between the Cadillac Education Association and the Board which may arise as to whether or not an employee properly executed or properly revoked an authorization card pursuant to this Article shall be reviewed with the employee by a representative of the Board. Until the matter is disposed of, no further deductions for that employee shall be made. The Board assumes no liability for the authorizity, execution or revocation of the authorization form.
- 13. The Association will protect and save harmless the Board from any or all claims, demands, suits and other forms of liability by reason of action taken or not taken by the Board or its designated agent for the purpose of complying with this Article.
- 14. The Board will continue its current practice of payroll deductions. Any new payroll deduction must be approved by payroll office.
- 15. The Association shall reimburse the Board the administrative cost of one dollar (\$1.00) per participating employee for political contribution payroll deductions.

Article II Board's Rights

The employer, on its own behalf and on behalf of the electors of the school district, hereby retains and reserves unto itself, without limitation, all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the laws and Constitution of the State of Michigan, and of the United States, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the right:

A. To the executive management and administrative control of the school system and its properties and facilities, and the school-related activities of its employees;

B. To hire all employees, and subject to the provisions of law, to determine their qualifications and the conditions for their continued employment, or other dismissal or demotion; and to promote and transfer all such employees. The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the employer, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith shall be limited only by the specific and express terms hereof and in conformance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Michigan and the Constitution and laws of the United States.

Article III Association Rights

- A. Pursuant to Act 336 of 1947, as amended, the Board hereby agrees that every teacher shall have the right to freely organize together or to form, join or assist in labor organizations to engage in lawful concerted activities for the purpose of collective negotiation or bargaining or other mutual aid and protection. Further, the Board agrees that it will not directly or indirectly encourage or discourage, deprive or coerce any teacher in the enjoyment of any of the rights covered by Act 336 of 1947, as amended, or other laws of the State of Michigan, or the Constitution of the State of Michigan or the United States; that it will not discriminate against any teacher with respect to hours, wages, terms or conditions of employment by reason of membership or non-membership in the Association, participation or refraining from participation in any lawful activities of the Association or in collective professional negotiations with the Board of Education or of institution of any grievance pursuant to this contract on any proceeding pursuant to law.
- B. No teacher shall be prohibited from wearing insignia pins or other reasonable indicia of membership in the Association either on or off school premises.
- C. The Association and its members shall have the right to use a room in one of the school buildings upon prior approval of building principal without rental fee except that the Association will be required to pay for any extra custodial expense which may result from said meeting.
- D. The Board agrees to make available to the Association, in response to reasonable requests from time to time, available public information or such other available information as is necessary to process a grievance pursuant to this contract.
- E. Authorized representatives of the Association, including MEA and NEA representatives, may upon obtaining prior approval from the building principal, enter the school building for the purpose of transacting official Association business during the day. It is expressly understood that any CEA member including building representatives, MEA, or NEA representative shall not during the course of a visit, interrupt or interfere in any way with normal school operations, nor shall the representative have the right to take a teacher away from their duty station. Further, any representative not checking in or out of the school building shall be barred from further access to the building during the school year. Any teacher conversing with a representative who has not complied with the provisions of this paragraph may first be subject to written reprimand and thereafter may be subject to further disciplinary action.

- F. The Association shall have the right to post notices of activities and matters of Association concern on teacher bulletin boards located in teachers' lounges or distribute the notices to teachers; however, all such notices shall be signed. No notices or advertisements dealing with issues or candidates in a public election shall be distributed on school grounds. The Association shall have the right to use on the school premises typewriters, mimeographing machines, other duplicating equipment, calculating machines, and all types of audiovisual equipment at reasonable times, when such equipment is not otherwise in use, without cost to district.
- G. The parties specifically recognize the right of the other party to appropriately invoke the assistance of the Michigan Employment Relations Commission or a mediator from such public agency.
- H. The Board may, in its discretion consult with the Association prior to adopting operational millage or when planning new building, expansion or construction, changes in school programs or anticipated layoff, it being recognized that the Association's suggestions may be helpful in overall planning.
- A Liaison Committee to consist of the four (4) elected CEA officers and/or negotiators and an equal number of administrators shall be created to meet regularly during the school year to discuss problems of mutual interest.

Article IV Fair Employment Practices

- A. The Board agrees that it shall not discriminate against any teacher on the basis of race, color, creed, national origin, sex, marital status, political beliefs, disability unrelated to the ability to perform the duties of the position, age, or membership in or lack of membership or participation in the activities of the Association or any other teacher organization, nor to discriminate against a teacher because of his/her institution of a grievance, complaint or proceeding under this Agreement.
- B. Consistent with the Code of Ethics of the Education Profession, membership in the Association shall be open to all teachers regardless of age, race, creed, religion, color, sex, marital status, national origin or disability.
- C. The Board and the Association mutually agree that membership in the Association or any other teacher organization not be required as a condition of employment of any teacher with the District.

Article V Compensation and School Calendar

- A. The salaries of teachers and school social workers covered by this Agreement are set forth in Schedule A which is attached to and made a part of this Agreement.
 - 1. A teacher or school social worker who fulfills the requirements for a Master Degree in a program related to their current, past or future teaching, counseling, administration assignment will be placed immediately on the Master Schedule, effective as of the date when the teacher provides the superintendent with either a written statement from the Office of the Registrar at the appropriate college or university, upon

presentation of the certificate of degree, or by way of written verification from the teacher's degree advisor. Any increase in salary shall be given pro rata to the date of the first paycheck after presentation of the above required certification or written verification. Any teacher who is currently being paid on the Masters Schedule A as of September 1, 2003 will continue to be paid at the Masters Schedule A. The degree must be from an accredited university. Credit hours for the salary schedule must be earned after the completion of receipt of the initial teacher certification.

- 2. The Board may grant up to five (5) years credit on the salary schedule for outside full-time K-12 public school experience. For experience credit beyond five (5) years, the Board shall have discretion to use its judgment in adjusting actual experience for credit on the salary schedule taking into account part-time experience vs. full-time, non-public school K-12 experience, non K-12 experience, long term substitute experience, elapsed time from last teaching experience, whether prior teaching experience was in the same area to be taught at CAPS and other relevant factors. The CEA President will be given the rationale for weighing experience beyond five (5) years upon request.
- B. The compensation for extracurricular assignments annually made by the Board of Education is set forth in Schedule B. All duties contained in Schedule B are subject to reassignment at the discretion of the Board of Education and shall not be subject to a grievance. Layoff, release or discontinuance of a Schedule B position shall not be construed as a demotion under the Teacher Tenure Act or subject to the grievance process.
- C. A teacher teaching an extra class in lieu of a preparation period for a semester or longer shall receive one-fifth (1/5) his/her contractual salary on a pro rata basis. No teachers shall be required to teach an extra class instead of a VIP or Advisory Period. A teacher with five (5) sections of the following will be defined as a core teacher: English, Reading, and Language Arts, Math, Science, Civics and Government, Economics, History and Geography.
- When a teacher instructs an extra class on an ad hoc basis (substitutes for another D. teacher) in lieu of a preparation period, he/she shall receive nineteen dollars (\$19.00) per hour. Comp time for substituting will be calculated in fifteen (15) minute intervals using a rounding up process. The teacher shall have the option of taking an excused absence day after substituting the equivalent of six (6) hours. The foregoing shall include elementary teachers when they teach art, vocal music or physical education for an absent art, vocal music or physical education teacher and elementary teachers shall be allowed comp hours as follows: one (1) hour of comp time when requested to attend Winter Sing when outside the workday; one (1) hour comp time when requested to attend Spring Sing when outside the workday; one (1) hour comp time for each hour when requested to attend Sixth Grade Student/Parent Orientation; one (1) hour of comp time for each hour requested to work for Kindergarten Student/Parent Visitation; one (1) hour of comp time per day and pay for other hours over one (1) hour to attend Kindergarten conferences beyond the normal work day conference hours; one (1) comp hour per semester for participation in a Parent Activity Night, one (1) hour of comp will given to attend open house, one (1) hour of comp time to attend parent/student orientation. Participation means more than just attendance; the elementary teacher must have some responsibility in dealing with students and/or parents. Comp time will not be provided during field trips or during performances at the auditorium. A substitute shall be provided in all team teaching situations when possible so teachers will

only receive comp time if a substitute is not available. Failure to request a substitute shall negate the eligibility for the team teacher to receive comp time. Middle school teachers will not receive comp time during the absence of exploratory teachers. Counselors shall not be eligible to receive over one (1) hour of comp time per day.

Comp time rules:

- 1. Comp time accumulated in excess of twenty (20) hours will be paid.
- 2. No more than four (4) school days of comp time and personal business days may be taken in succession, it being understood that Thursday, Friday, Monday, Tuesday, is permissible but not Wednesday, Thursday, Friday, Monday, Tuesday, etc. Exceptions may be made with prior approval from the supervisor.
- 3. Arrangements for use of time between the principal and the teacher must be complete at least three (3) workdays prior to its use. Comp time to be used before or after a scheduled recess shall be scheduled with the principal thirty (30) calendar days prior to the first day of absence.
- 4. Teachers may not use accumulated comp time during the first week of a school year, and no more than ten percent (10%) of the building staff may be gone the day before a scheduled recess or no more than ten percent (10%) of the building staff may be gone the day after a scheduled recess.
- 5. For the following recess periods, comp time will be approved on a first come, first serve basis:
 - a. Friday before Labor Day
 - b. Labor Day (except as otherwise limited above)
 - c. Opening day of deer season (before or after)
 - d. Thanksgiving
 - e. Presidents' Day
 - f. Good Friday (if not included during spring recess)
 - g. Memorial Day
- 6. For the Christmas recess and spring recess, the following procedure will be implemented (subject to the limitation above):
 - a. Persons interested in being considered for approval to use comp time for the day(s) before or the day(s) after the recess period will be eligible if they have a minimum of six (6) hours comp time at the time of submitting a request to use comp time. The request must be submitted thirty (30) calendar days prior to the beginning of the recess.
 - b. With the current established list, new teachers will be added to the bottom of the list based on the date of hire. Staff who have used comp time will be added to the bottom of the list in the order they were originally drawn.
 - c. Any person on the established list who falls below six (6) hours of comp time available thirty (30) days before the recess period, will be passed over but will maintain his/her position on the list.
 - d. The Association representative and the principal will meet thirty (30) days prior to the beginning of the recess period to determine those eligible/ineligible and make the award. (Send notice to all staff).
 - e. A person who has been awarded a slot shall confirm within twenty-four (24) hours to the principal and Association representative the use of the day(s). A person once awarded the day(s) may pass and remain at the top of the list for future recess periods.

- f. This is a continuing rotating procedure and the single list will cover both the Christmas recess and spring recess.
- 7. Itinerant teachers will be included for all recess periods in the building where they are recorded in the annual staff directory published by the central office. However, the ten percent (10%) will include teachers only from that directory.
- 8. None of the ten percent (10%) of the slots not used in a building may be transferred to another building or another recess period. For the Christmas and spring recess periods none of the ten percent (10%) will be available to teachers that didn't apply thirty (30) days in advance
- E. If a teacher is engaged during the school day in negotiating on behalf of the Association with any representative of the Board or participating in professional grievance negotiations with a Board representative, he/she shall be released from his/her regular duties with the cost of a substitute to be paid by the Association.
- F. Each employee who uses his/her own vehicle for official school business at the request of the supervisor shall be reimbursed at the IRS rate for each mile driven while conducting such official school business. Each employee who is away from a school building during a normal meal period, while performing assigned duties, has the option of procuring a meal at school district expense. The amount of reimbursement shall be subject to administrative guidelines.
- G. Free sports passes will be distributed at the beginning of each school year to members of the faculty for school-sponsored athletic events.
- H. In order to facilitate staff development, the Association and the administration shall jointly plan and schedule inservice meetings through the building school improvement committee. The committee shall carry out the foregoing, it being understood that the committee should schedule inservice at times other than the daily contractual obligation time which may include evenings, or during the summer months.

Attendance at inservices outside the daily contractual obligation time shall be voluntary. All notices of inservice outside the daily contractual obligation time will be clearly marked as "non-paid" or "paid". Teachers shall be paid sixteen dollars (\$16.00) per hour to attend the approved paid inservices outside of the daily contractual obligation time. The administration may require individual teachers to attend additional inservices as deemed necessary through adverse evaluation(s). Probationary teachers' contractual obligation shall include five (5) days of inservice for each of three (3) years to meet the requirements for professional development under School Code 380.1526. During the three (3) year period these fifteen (15) days may all be beyond the school calendar (for teachers); however, seven (7) days shall be compensated at the inservice rate up to six (6) hours per day or by release time if during school hours. Any qualifying inservice for which college/university credit is earned, the probationary teacher shall forfeit compensation in lieu of the earned credit. Tenure teacher's contractual obligation shall include the number of professional development days required under section 380.1527 of the school code as amended.

I. The administration will use the posting process as specified in Article IX, to seek teacher volunteers to work on special projects during the school year outside the regular school day or during the summer months. Volunteers will be paid at the rate of twenty four (\$24.00) per hour. Any payment under this section will be for only extraordinary work and must be

declared in advance on the posting by the administration before asking for volunteers. The filling of positions for summer school or non school year work will not be subject to the grievance procedure.

- J. Teachers who agree to accept students under an independent study format shall be paid six hundred dollars (\$600.00) per semester per student. If two (2) students are involved in the same course and credit with the same teacher, the teacher shall be paid eight hundred dollars (\$800.00) total per semester. Teachers working under this format will be asked to keep a log of all hours spent working with the student(s). Payment shall not be made until the log showing the completion of the work is submitted to the building principal. If a student fails to complete the program once it is started, the teacher shall be paid a pro rata amount as determined by the building principal, assistant superintendent for curriculum and the teacher.
- K. Teachers who voluntarily make home visits to at least 75% of their students, with prior administrative approval, will receive two hundred (\$200.00) dollars. Payment shall not be made until the log showing the completion of the work is submitted to the building principal.

Article VI Teaching Hours

A. All teachers shall have a daily six (6) hour and forty-five (45) minute contractual obligation and in addition thereto a duty free lunch period of not less than thirty-five (35) minutes for teachers in elementary schools and thirty (30) minutes for teachers in middle school, junior high and high school, all of which shall be contained within a seven (7) hour thirty (30) minute period. The beginning and ending of the seven (7) hour thirty (30) minute period shall be as specified by the administration, but shall be between the hours of 8:00 A.M. and 4:30 P.M. for grades K-5 and 7:00 A.M. and 4:30 P.M. for grades 6-12.

The daily average teaching load for each teacher shall not exceed five (5) hours and twenty-five (25) minutes. It is expressly understood that the daily average teaching load may deviate three (3) minutes either way without a violation of the contract.

All teachers shall regulate student conduct in hallways or assigned duty stations up to the commencement of actual classroom instruction and during classroom changes where applicable except when on their duty free lunch period. "Regulation of student conduct" shall not give the building principals the right to physical assignment of hallway duties, but teachers shall be required to leave their room to maintain hallway discipline when necessary.

Non-teaching time shall be used for preparation, consultation, planning, professional work with other staff, administrators, parents, and students, and other work related to the teacher's assignment including travel for itinerant teachers. Teachers may make use of such time for other necessary purposes when mutually agreed by the principal and teacher. Within the parameters of non-teaching time, all teachers shall be provided with an average of fifty (50) minutes per day preparation time.

Itinerant teachers shall not be required to travel during their thirty-five (35) minute lunch period. Further, principals shall work together to schedule significant blocks of preparation time when sharing itinerant teachers.

Abuse or misuse of the time given to teachers for conference and preparation may result in disciplinary action. On days immediately preceding holidays, all teachers may be excused when students have boarded their respective buses.

- Principals and other members of the administrative staff shall be free to schedule reasonable activities such as parent-teacher conferences, curriculum meetings, inservice programs, building meetings, following the dismissal of students from school so long as the same is within the aforementioned consecutive seven (7) hours and thirty (30) minutes, except as provided in Paragraph B of Article VI.
- 2. Elementary teacher preparation time for Fall & Spring Parent-Teacher Conferences shall be at least 90 consecutive minutes and will be granted within five (5) working days prior to the conferences. Each school at all levels shall schedule Spring and Fall Parent-Teacher Conferences which shall provide for a scheduled appointment with at least one of the pupil's teachers.
- 3. Resource room teachers shall be granted one-half (1/2) day per week for preparation time in lieu of other preparation time during the balance of the week. Because of the unique nature of services rendered, school social workers, librarians, and counselors shall have flexible preparation time, as approved by the building principal, equal to that provided for regular classroom teachers.
- 4. When the Board provides elementary art, the classroom teacher may use this period for preparation time, but must return the last five (5) minutes to help clean up and/or to prepare for continuing student work on art project(s).
- Elementary teachers shall have planning and preparation time while the art, music 5. and physical education specialists have assumed the classroom teachers' responsibilities. If specialists are absent, the administration shall obtain a substitute where the elementary teachers do not wish to teach the specialist classes. substitutes are unavailable, the teacher shall instruct the specialist's class of students. If elementary teachers are deprived of preparation time due to absence of the specialist, the teacher shall be reimbursed at the rate of nineteen dollars (\$19.00) per hour or receive comp time. If a specialist program is deleted from the curriculum, elementary teachers shall resume teaching of normally scheduled classes without additional compensation; however, it shall not serve to increase their daily average teaching load beyond five (5) hours and twenty-five (25) minutes beginning July 1, 2005. Beginning in the 2005-2006 school year it shall not serve to increase their daily average teaching load beyond five (5) hours and twenty-five (25) minutes, or as changed in Section A above. It is expressly understood that the daily average teaching load may deviate three (3) minutes either way without a violation of the Teachers in elementary buildings, except kindergarten teachers and contract. specialists, shall also have the right to use the time when their students are at the scheduled recess, equivalent up to one hundred twenty (120) minutes per week, for Kindergarten teachers will supervise both of their preparation and planning. recesses as part of their normal teaching loads.

Specialists need not supervise recess. Classroom teachers shall assist recess aides in supervision of their students on inclement weather days. The classroom teachers and the aide shall work out a reasonable schedule of supervision so that one adult is in eye contact with a classroom of students.

B. Building meetings, committee meetings, and other school activities including inservices may require the teacher to work outside the daily contractual time. It is expected that all

teachers recognize the worth and importance of such meetings and shall be in attendance when the meeting is called by the building principal, assistant principal, or the superintendent. Such meetings shall be limited to one (1) meeting per week ending one hour after the daily contractual obligation time except for one meeting per month that may last until six (6:00) P.M. Attendance after the one hour shall be voluntary except for the one meeting per month that may last to six (6:00) P.M. and teachers shall be notified one (1) week in advance of this meeting. Bargaining unit members involved in Schedule B activities shall attend or make up meetings and inservices as rescheduled with the building principal.

- C. Each teacher shall be required to attend parent-teacher conferences and open houses, but attendance at PTO will be voluntary.
- D. Each teacher, with the exception of those teachers who volunteer for paid duty in the amount of eight dollars and seventy five cents (\$8.75) for each thirty (30) minute lunch period; shall have not less nor more than the equivalent time received by students of duty-free, uninterrupted lunch daily, except teachers' lunch hours shall be thirty (30) minutes in grades 6-12 and thirty five (35) minutes in grades K-5. It is expressly understood that these lunch periods may be staggered in accordance with scheduling by the building principal.

E. Act of God Days:

- 1. With the consent of the Association, the Board or administration may use "snow days" or inclement weather days for inservice training. On such days the inservice shall begin no earlier than 9:00 A.M. and will end no later than 2:00 P.M. The Board reserves the right to alter the school calendar in order to achieve the minimum number of hours and days of student instruction required by state law. The Board prefers make up days, if needed, occur as consecutive weekdays immediately following the previously scheduled last day of instruction.
- 2. Teachers will report thirty (30) minutes before students for building meetings, conferences and planning time on late start Act of God Days where the delay of the start of school is two (2) or more hours from the normal starting time.

Article VII Teaching Loads and Assignments

- A. All teachers shall assume authority for student conduct on school property or school sponsored events off school property to which he/she has been assigned.
- B. No teacher shall be assigned, except temporarily and for good cause, outside the scope of their teaching certificates or their major or minor fields of study and "highly qualified" requisites. It is expressly understood that the assignments made by the administrative staff may in some instances require a teacher to be temporarily assigned outside of the scope of his/her teaching certificate or major or minor field of study and "highly qualified" requisites in the interest of the school district as a whole. "Temporary" shall be defined for the purpose of this Article as not to exceed the balance of the current school year.
- C. If the Board permits, teachers who have been hired full-time within the Cadillac School System may be given the opportunity to elect a one-half (1/2) or fraction of full-time day assignment for one or up to a three-year period. In February of the last year of the approved period, they may: (1) request and will be placed on full-time at the end of the period, or (2) they may request an extended period on part-time, which may be permitted at

the Board's discretion. Full time teachers who request one-half (1/2) or a fraction of full time day after January 1, 2001 may return to full time if a position is available that they are certified and qualified to teach. The District will not be required to lay off teachers to make positions available.

- D. Teachers hired part-time may apply for full-time, but the Board is not obligated to place them on full-time or additional time.
- E. The Board and the Association recognize that being assigned a combination class, while sometimes necessary, creates new and different problems for the classroom teacher. Accordingly, when combination rooms are deemed necessary by the administration, the following standards shall be observed:
 - 1. No teacher shall be assigned a combination classroom more than two (2) years in a row without his/her consent.
 - 2. The student makeup of the classes for combination rooms will be finalized only after input from the grade level classroom teachers who are sending the students and those who are receiving the students. This input shall attempt to achieve an equitable distribution of academic ability and socioeconomic background of students. The makeup of the combination class will be subject to the final approval of the building principal.
- F. It shall be understood that "team-teaching" exists when two or more teachers share the same instructional time with the same students. Any team member who deems their team teaching assignment to be unsatisfactory shall give their concerns in writing to the building principal but the decision is not subject to the grievance procedure. The building principal will address the concerns and respond in writing. A team member can request a meeting with administration to address his/her concerns.

Article VIII Teaching Conditions

A. Class Size

- 1. General Rules
 - a. The individual classes shall be given careful consideration and any inequities adjusted upon the request of the teacher if economically and educationally feasible and desirable.
 - b. In secondary (6-12) school traditionally larger classes shall be defined as physical education classes, music and team teaching classes. If such classes have enrollments that are considered by the teacher to be an overload, and after meeting with the principal the problem is unresolved, the secondary teacher may file a grievance on the class size of traditionally larger classes to level three only.
 - c. Secondary class size should be twenty-five (25) to thirty (30) students per class except in traditionally larger classes. Class size in middle school diads should be fifty (50) to fifty nine (59) students and seventy-five (75) to eighty-nine (89) students in triads. The Board recognizes that certain secondary classes require a manageable class size to appropriately teach the requisite writing skills.
 - d. In kindergarten (including pre-kindergarten) through third grade, class size should be twenty-three (23) to twenty-six (26) students per class; however, the

Board will work toward a class size of twenty-three (23) in active developmentally appropriate program classrooms K-2 as determined by the administration. Grades 4 and 5 should be twenty three (23) to twenty eight (28) students per class.

- e. Elementary art, music, and physical education should be twenty-three (23) to twenty-eight (28) students per class. It is understood that art, music and physical education classes in elementary grades shall not be doubled up; however, adjustments may be made to accommodate combination classrooms up to thirty-five (35) to forty-two (42) pupils per section if no other reasonable alternatives exist. Elementary art, music or physical education should not exceed three hundred (300) to three hundred twenty-five (325) pupils per day except for special events and/or practices.
- f. If the number of students exceeds the top of the range it will be considered to be an "overload". The administration shall notify, in writing, within ten (10) days, the Association and Board of all classes in which an overload exists according to this Article.
- g. When the above class size exceeds the maximum the principal shall within ten (10) school days arrange a meeting with the teacher to arrive at an agreeable solution to the problem. If no agreement has been reached within ten (10) school days of such meeting, the teacher will be compensated for the days of the overload at the rate of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) per year for elementary and one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) per year prorated per class in secondary. If the overload reaches three (3) students per class then a teacher assistant will be provided for one (1) hour each day in the elementary and the same amount of teacher assistant time will be prorated for secondary in lieu of the additional compensation. However, K-5 teachers may request and receive the allocated teacher assistant time with a two (2) student overload in lieu of compensation. The Board shall strive to maintain that no class exceeds three (3) students over the top of the class size guidelines.

2. Special Education

The Board and the Association agree to abide by all provisions of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, its regulations, State special education laws and rules, and Section 504.

- Copies of the deviation requests for special education class loads will be provided to the Association president upon submission to the Department of Education.
- b. The parties acknowledge that the policy of Least Restrictive Environment is legally mandated. It is also recognized that the extent to which any special education student should participate in regular education programs and services involves consideration of that student's unique needs as determined by an Individual Educational Planning Committee (IEPC). The general education classroom teacher and the appropriate special education teachers are jointly responsible for the implementation of the IEPC and the educational needs of special education students assigned to the teacher's class.
- c. The Board agrees to immediately notify the Association, in writing, should it make a request to the ISD for a waiver or a deviation from the State special education rules.
- d. The student's special education teacher will have the responsibility of contacting the general education teacher(s) for purposes of sharing pertinent

information, discussing the special needs of said students and addressing other appropriate issues as same may arise using ongoing communications throughout the student's placement in regular education class. The special education teacher will have the responsibility for contacting the general education teacher(s) prior to the student entering the regular education classroom(s).

- e. When a general education classroom teacher is assigned a student from a special education program for severely impaired students, the teacher shall not be expected to perform routine, scheduled maintenance of an apparatus used by the student to sustain his/her bodily functions nor render routine scheduled care or maintenance of exceptional bodily functions (e.g.: tracheotomy, etc.) related to the student's impaired condition. The teacher shall be informed and instructed as to emergency measures which may be necessary on occasion due to the student's impaired condition. Otherwise, it shall be the teacher's responsibility to implement the student's individualized educational plan and for attending to the educational needs of the student while in the teacher's class.
- f. The administration will make a reasonable attempt to provide for a substitute in the absence of the regularly assigned special education aide.
- g. LRE provides written goals of educational achievement, established for and on behalf of the student with special needs, by educational peers of the classroom teacher in cooperation with the parent of the child. These goals do not constitute a guarantee that they will be achieved; only that the teachers, both special education teachers and regular education classroom teachers, will act in a reasonable and professional manner while entrusted with the care and ability to provide the best education to the student.
- B. The Board recognizes that appropriate texts, library reference facilities, maps and globes, laboratory equipment, audiovisual equipment, art supplies, athletic equipment, current periodicals, standard tests and questionnaires, and similar materials are the tools of the teaching profession. The parties and/or their assigned members will confer from time to time for the purpose of improving this selection.
- C. The Board shall make available in each school a lunchroom, workroom, restroom and lavatory facilities for the teacher's use where possible. Telephones for teachers' use will continue to be made available as in the past.
- D. Each teacher shall maintain with the office of the superintendent of schools and the building principal the current correct address and phone number which may be used to contact him/her in emergency matters.
- E. Every teacher employed by the Board must have a valid teaching certificate. This certificate must be filed with the superintendent. Failure to file the certificate or loss of certification may result in loss of employment.
- F. Problems concerning the physical classroom, including lighting and air circulation shall be addressed by the Liaison Committee if not satisfactorily resolved by the building principal in the first instance.

Article IX Vacancies and Transfers

- A. Whenever any permanent vacancy (a position for which no member of the bargaining unit has a claim and the Board intends on filling) occurs or whenever a new teaching position is created, the Board shall give written notice within ten (10) days of such vacancy to the president of the Association and post the vacancy on the bulletin boards in the teachers' lounges during the school year. The vacancy will remain posted for a period of ten (10) school days and will not be permanently filled for a period of twelve (12) days from the date of first posting. The deadline for applications shall appear on the notice and may not be less than ten (10) days from the first day of posting. The Board need not fill the vacancy.
 - 1. The administration shall have the right to fill vacancies by transfers but only after the vacancy has been posted in accordance with the above.
 - 2. The administration may temporarily fill a vacancy which occurs on or after October 31st of a school year with personnel from outside the bargaining. Thereafter, a permanent vacancy shall be posted and filled in accordance with the above.
- B. Any teacher possessing the qualifications may apply in writing for such vacancy at the superintendent's office. The Board agrees to give due weight to professional background and attainments of all applicants, length of service in the district, building, class level, area of specialization, and other relevant factors.
- C. The Board reserves the right to transfer a teacher without request and to deny applications as above specified. The Board shall give ten (10) working days notice of the transfer. However that requirement may be waived with agreement from the teacher and administration. The Board, upon request, shall show cause for rejecting to the teacher or reasons for a transfer. If not satisfied, the teacher may then request that the Liaison Committee review the reason(s). The teacher shall be consulted before each transfer is made from building to building or from his/her area of certification.
- D. The Board shall furnish each teacher a letter of intent (copy of which is attached hereto), to return, retire, or terminate his employment on or before the 15th day of February of each year of this contract. These letters shall be signed and returned by the teacher indicating the intended status for the ensuing school year, not later than the 28th day of February. Thereafter but not later than the 15th day of March, the Board shall post notices of vacancies in accordance with A above. Any teacher who fails to submit a letter of intent to return, or reverses his position previously taken in a letter of intent submitted to the Board on or before the 28th of February, may be subject to having his position posted as a vacancy and if filled, subject to unrequested transfer at the discretion of the administration.

The Board agrees to provide the Association with a summary record of the letters of intent that are submitted by the bargaining unit members to the Association in March.

E. The provisions of paragraph A shall be continued until the last day of the school year. Thereafter, until July 31, permanent vacancies shall be posted in the superintendent's office for a minimum of ten (10) days before being permanently filled. Copies of the notices shall be sent to the president and secretary of the Association at the time of posting and shall be

mailed to each bargaining unit member. Whenever vacancies occur between July 31st and the first day of classes, the following procedure, in addition to the procedure outlined, shall be followed:

- Teachers with specific interest in possible vacancies will notify the Board of their intent in writing during the last regular week of school and shall include a summer address.
- Should a vacancy occur from July 31st until the first day of classes, the teachers who have expressed an interest in said position, building or program or a similar position shall be notified of the vacancy by the Board via U.S. first class mail per summer address. The Association president shall also be notified of the vacancy by U.S. mail.
- 3. The teachers so notified shall have the responsibility of contacting the superintendent or his designee indicating their interest in said position within three (3) working days after postmarked day.
- 4. From the first day of classes to October 31st, all positions will be posted in buildings for 72 hours.

This paragraph will not apply to Schedule B unless the activity is in progress or the deadline would occur after the start-up time for the activity.

Article X <u>Leaves of Absence</u>

- A. Sick Leave. All full-time teachers absent from duty shall be allowed a total of ten (10) days per school year with pay which may be used for the following reasons:
 - 1. Personal illness.
 - 2. Illness in immediate family (spouse, siblings, children, grandchildren, parents, grandparents, parents-in-law and household dependents) limited to the total accumulated up to twenty (20) days.
 - 3. Serious illness in the immediate family (spouse, siblings, children, grandchildren, parents, grandparents, parents-in-law and household dependents) limited to the total accumulated with medical verification.
 - 4. Death in the immediate family (as specified in Paragraph E below).
 - Prolonged disability A prolonged disability shall be defined as absence from work for five (5) consecutive days or more. Any teacher shall notify the building principal upon the determination that the period of absence will be five (5) or more days so that further arrangements may be made with the substitute to assure better continuity of education. The notice shall contain the anticipated number of days absent. Changes therefrom may be made only after a written doctor's notice of ability to return at least one day in advance of return. Failure to notify may result in loss of use of sick leave beyond five (5) days.
 - 6. Anticipated prolonged disability Any teacher that can anticipate a prolonged disability shall notify the building principal in writing as soon as possible. The notification shall contain the projected dates of confinement. Failure of notice in any of the situations may result in loss of use of sick leave beyond five (5) days. It is understood that use of sick leave shall be only for the duration of the actual incapacity, and the Board reserves the right of written verification and/or consultation with or from a physician. In cases of scheduled surgery, childbirth or similar circumstances, written notice shall be given at least thirty (30) days in advance of confinement, whenever possible.

- B. One (1) day of the sick leave hereinabove granted shall accrue as of the first day of each month during the school year, except August, which day shall accrue after the first full day of classroom teaching; however, new teachers to the district will be allowed to use their first six (6) days prior to their accumulation. Sick leave may be used in increments of one (1) hour or more.
- C. Teachers shall be required to notify the building principal or his designee in the event of an absence due to personal, critical or emergency illnesses one (1) hour prior to normal report time or not later than 7:00 A.M., whichever is earlier, of the expected day of absence so that a substitute may be obtained, unless circumstances make such notification impossible or unreasonable to do so. To be eligible for payment for the date of absence without timely notification to the principal at the time hereinabove specified, it will be necessary for the teacher to file with the building principal, a written statement concerning the reasons for failure to notify. The principal shall have the discretion to waive notification.
- D. Each teacher may be granted one (1) day with pay to attend the funeral of a person not in his/her immediate family not to exceed five (5) such days per year. No more than nine (9) teachers may attend the same funeral.
- E. Teachers may use in any one (1) school year, up to three (3) days for death in the immediate family as hereinabove defined or five (5) days for a spouse, parent, or child, without deduction from sick leave, thereafter up to four (4) days may be used for death in the immediate family which shall be deductible from sick leave. The foregoing days shall be non-accumulative. Notification for leave for a funeral is expected as soon as practicable to the superintendent and the building principal.

F. Sick Day Accumulation

- 1. Sick leave days hereinabove granted and unused shall be allowed to accumulate up to ninety (90) days. Teachers with twenty-seven (27) years or more service credit with the Michigan Public Schools Employee Retirement System and ten (10) years with the Cadillac Area Public Schools shall be able to accumulate up to one hundred (100) sick days.
- 2. An employee who retires under the Michigan Public Schools Employee Retirement System after ten (10) years service in the Cadillac School District will be paid one hundred and ten dollars (\$110.00) for each accumulated sick day at the time of retirement or death, which is to be paid solely through the 403b plan.

G. Sick Leave Bank – District Central Bank:

- 1. A District Central Bank shall be created effective the first day the employee works in the current school year. The District Central Bank total shall be allowed to be used as needed, without any further employee contribution of days, until the accumulated total reaches three thousand (3,000). Each member shall automatically have one day deducted from his/her accumulated total when the accumulated total drops below three thousand (3,000). When the District Central Bank drops below three thousand (3,000) days, each member will be allowed eleven (11) days. The employee will place one (1) of his/her days at the disposal of the District's Central Bank.
- 2. The District Central Bank is intended to provide each teacher with comprehensive protection from financial burdens imposed by prolonged disability, long-term illness,

disability accident or the same chronic recurring illnesses. In order to be eligible to draw from the sick bank, the following criteria must be satisfied:

- a. A teacher employed for more than two years may not draw from the sick leave bank until after the fifteenth (15) day of absence as a result of the same illness or disability, other than those listed in G.2. above when the fifteen (15) day absence has already been met.
- b. No teacher may draw from the sick bank until he or she has exhausted all but two of their accumulated sick days.
- c. No teacher may draw from the sick bank while on a leave of absence without pay or while drawing workers' compensation or while drawing long term disability provided in Article XV, Section A.
- d. A teacher shall not be eligible to draw more than ninety (90) workdays' pay from the sick leave bank without reapplication to the sick bank for individual consideration.
- e. Applications for long-term disability under Article XV, Section A, must be made as soon as the teacher is reasonably aware that the policy may be applicable to his/her situation. All teachers drawing from the sick leave bank must apply for long-term disability and must take long-term disability in lieu of sick bank benefits as soon as they are eligible to do so. Consideration should be given for additional sick bank days (to the ninety [90] sick bank day limit) when an employee returns from LTD. Salary received from the District will be returned if LTD benefits are approved for the same days.
- f. First and second year teachers may use sick bank benefits without regard to 2-a above.
- 3. The District Central Bank Committee shall be composed of four (4) members, an equal number of representatives of the Association and the administration. All approvals of the Committee shall be by a majority of the members. The criteria for such approvals shall be set and published by the District Central Bank Committee. This shall not apply while a person is drawing workers' compensation award.
- 4. Unused leave days credited to the sick bank shall carry over to the following school year.
- 5. Prolonged disability shall be defined as four (4) consecutive weeks with a physician's statement attesting to the incapacity to work. The Board reserves the right to require a second opinion from the Board's physician at the Board's cost. Childcare, as differentiated from disability due to childbirth, shall not be covered by sick leave or the sick bank provisions.
- 6. It is expressly understood that the provisions of the sick leave bank are only for the personal illness of the teacher and shall not apply for family care, childcare, or illnesses of the immediate family. Under extenuating circumstances a teacher may apply to the sick bank for up to a maximum of ten (10) days to be utilized to care for an immediate family member with a serious health condition, including when a teacher must make arrangements for necessary medical and/or nursing care.
- H. The Board shall have the right in its discretion to require a teacher to submit to a physical or mental examination at Board expense by a licensed physician approved by the Board. The Board may refer the teacher to its physician. If the teacher does not agree to see the original Board physician, the Board will pick another physician from a list made by the Association of not less than five (5) physicians nor more than ten (10) physicians. The physician acting for the Board from the above list shall have the right to refer to specialist.

- I. Other Leaves of Absence with Pay.
 - 1. Teachers called for jury service during the school year, or subpoenaed as a witness in a school-connected dispute will be granted unlimited days absence (except this shall not apply to any dispute in which the Association is a party or representing a party). It is expressly understood that any compensation received by the teacher in the form of witness fees or jury pay will be deducted from the teacher's normal salary.
 - 2. If a teacher is released from jury duty prior to the end of his/her work day, the teacher shall contact the building principal to determine whether he/she should return to work.
 - 3. A maximum of two (2) days per year, non-accumulative may be granted for personal business of the 6-12 teachers. A maximum of three (3) days per year, non-accumulative may be granted for personal business of the K-5 teachers. The days may be used by the teacher without disclosing the reason therefore; however, the request form shall be signed by the teacher stating the provisions of this entire subsection (I, 2.) will be honored. It shall not be taken on a workday preceding or succeeding a vacation or holiday unless for an acceptable reason, nor if the teacher can make arrangements to avoid its use.
 - a. As a condition precedent to receiving pay for personal business days, the teacher shall request permission from the principal or superintendent at least two (2) working days in advance of the expected date of absence.
 - b. It is expressly understood that personal business days may not be used for family vacations, shopping trips or recreational pursuits.
 - c. Exceptions to a & b may be made in the sole discretion of the principal or superintendent and shall be subject to the grievance procedure.
- J. Application of Family and Medical Leave Act to Utilization of Paid Sick Leave.

For purposes of the Family and Medical Leave Act (PL 103-3), sick leave shall be charged at the election of either the Board or the bargaining unit member. This shall apply to:

- 1. Sick leave which is utilized to care for a family member (child, spouse or parent) with a serious health condition, including where a teacher must make arrangements for necessary medical and/or nursing care. (See Sec. A-2)
- 2. Sick leave which is utilized due to a serious health condition which renders the teacher unable to perform the functions of his/her job. (See A-1, A-4, A-5, F-1, G)
- K. Intermittent and Reduced Schedule Leave. Where a bargaining unit member requests intermittent leave or reduced schedule leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act for more than twenty percent (20%) of the total number of working days over the period the leave would extend, the Board may require that the teacher:
 - 1. Take leave for the duration of the planned treatment, OR
 - 2. Transfer temporarily to an alternative position for which the teacher is certified and qualified (and which has equivalent pay and benefits) where the temporary transfer would better accommodate the need for recurring leave, in comparison to the teacher's current assignment. If temporary transfer is required under this section, it may occur without regard to other transfer terms under this contract.
 - 3. Intermittent leave, to the extent required by the Family and Medical Leave Act, shall be taken in intervals of not less than two (2) hours. Employees shall attempt to schedule intermittent leave so as not to disrupt the continuity of services and instruction.

- L. Leaves of Absence Without Pay. May be granted upon the written request of the teacher to the Board of Education. These leaves of absence will be granted in the sole discretion of the Board of Education who reserves the right to specify the beginning and terminating dates of the leave of absence, subject to the Family and Medical Leave Act. Requests may be filed for:
 - 1. Study related to the teacher's licensed field shall be for the maximum length of one (1) year only.
 - 2. A leave of absence for military service shall be granted in accordance with Act 145 of 1943, as amended.
 - 3. A teacher who is unable to teach because of personal illness or disability and who has exhausted all sick leave available may be granted a leave of absence without pay for the duration of such illness or disability up to one (1) year. The leave may be renewed for one additional year upon written request sixty (60) days prior to the end of the original leave and with consent of the Board of Education. This leave of absence shall be credited against teachers' rights under the Family and Medical Leave Act.
 - a. Teachers accessing leave under this section shall provide thirty (30) days written notice prior to the date on which leave is to commence. If the teacher must begin medical treatment sooner, notice shall be given as promptly as is practicable under the circumstances.
 - b. The Board has the right to receive medical certification from the teacher's health care provider regarding the necessity for leave, which shall include:
 - (1) The date the illness or disability commenced and the health care provider's best medical judgment concerning the probable duration of the condition;
 - (2) A brief statement of the regimen of treatment prescribed for the condition by the health care provider (including estimated number of visits, nature, frequency and duration of treatment, including treatment by another provider of health services on referral by or order of the health care provider);
 - (3) Indication of whether inpatient hospitalization is required; and
 - (4) Either a statement that the teacher is unable to perform work of any kind, or a statement that the teacher is unable to perform the essential functions of the teacher's position with or without reasonable accommodation.
 - c. The Board has the right to require that a second medical opinion (at Board expense). If that opinion differs from that of the teacher's health provider, the teacher and the Board (in consultation with the Association, if requested by the teacher) shall mutually designate a third health provider whose opinion relative to leave eligibility or initial fitness to return to work shall be considered final and binding. The cost of this examination shall be paid by the Board.
 - d. The Board shall have the right to require reasonable re-certification during the leave period and medical certification of the teacher's fitness to return to duty at the expiration of the leave period.
 - 4. Up to one (1) year for the purpose of critical care of any immediate family members (spouses, siblings, parents, grandparents, and children) or for the care of any individual for whom the teacher is the legal guardian.
 - a. An unpaid leave of absence taken for the purpose of caring for a spouse, child or parent with a serious health condition, as defined by the Family and

Medical Leave Act, shall be taken concurrently with his/her leave provision to the extent of the teacher's eligibility under the Family and Medical Leave Act.

- 5. Up to one (1) year for the purpose of child care. Beginning and ending dates are to be agreed upon at the time of the request. In most cases, such leave will end at the end of the school year. Other ending dates will be considered if satisfactory arrangements can be made.
 - a. An unpaid leave of absence taken for the purpose of caring for a child with a serious health condition or because of the birth of a child (and in order to care for that child) or due to placement for adoption or foster care, as defined by the Family and Medical Leave Act, shall be taken concurrently with this leave provision to the extent of the teacher's eligibility under the Family and Medical Leave Act.
 - b. Leave taken under this section in connection with the birth of a child or due to placement for the adoption or foster care must be concluded at the end of the twelve (12) month period beginning on the date of birth or placement, as is applicable.
- 6. Each teacher shall, upon request, be granted unpaid leave up to five (5) consecutive workdays. A teacher may request such leave no more than once each two (2) school years. Even though unpaid leave of absence is granted for this section, Board paid benefits will continue during the five (5) days of absence.
- 7. Other leaves of absence may be granted without pay in the sole discretion of the Board of Education upon receiving from the requesting teacher in writing the purpose of the leave of absence, the probable advantage to the school district, the length of requested leave, and such other information as will assist the Board of Education in making a decision concerning the leave of absence.
- 8. General conditions pertaining to unpaid leaves shall be as follows:
 - Seniority shall remain unbroken and shall accumulate during the unpaid leave.
 However, no experience credit for the purpose of entitlement to benefits under this contract shall accrue during unpaid leave, except L (4) and (5).
 - b. The employee taking unpaid leave shall be responsible for payment of premiums (to the extent continuation coverage is available under COBRA) during such leave, except the Board will be responsible for payment of premiums from the following leaves:
 - (1) Personal illness/disability taken under Section A of this Article.
 - (2) Where leave is taken for the purpose of caring for a spouse, child or parent with a serious health condition, or caring for a newborn or placement for adoption or foster care as defined by the Family and Medical Leave Act, and as referenced under L (4) and (5) of this Article, Board paid medical insurance premium continuation shall not exceed twelve (12) weeks or the extent of the teacher's entitlement under the Family and Medical Leave Act, whichever is less. Any insurance premium continuation by the Board due to the teacher's utilization of paid leave for purpose specified in this subsection shall be credited to the above interval.
 - c. If the teacher fails to return from leave at its expiration (except in the event of the continuance, onset or recurrence of a serious health condition of the teacher or other circumstances beyond the teacher's control) the Board shall have the right to recover all premium payments made during the unpaid leave interval. These amounts may permissibly be deducted from any wage or

other payments due the teacher with any deficiency to be remitted by the teacher to the Board within sixty (60) days of demand.

- d. The Board and the teacher agree to cooperate in scheduling commencement and return from leave at a time which minimizes disruption to the continuity of educational programming and service delivery.
 - (1) If a teacher begins leave under this Article more than five (5) weeks before the end of a semester, the Board may require that leave be taken until the conclusion of the semester if the leave is to last at least three (3) weeks and the teacher would return to work during the three (3) week period immediately before the conclusion of the semester.
 - (2) If a teacher begins leave under this Article (other than for the teacher's own serious health condition) during the five (5) week period before the end of a semester, the Board may require that leave be taken until the end of the semester if the leave will last more than two (2) weeks and if the teacher would return to work during the two (2) week period immediately before the end of the semester.
 - (3) If a teacher begins leave under this Article (other than for the teacher's own serious health condition) during the three (3) week period before the end of a semester and the leave will last more than five (5) working days, the Board may require the teacher to take leave until the end of the semester.
 - (4) If a teacher does not return to teaching upon the expiration of the leave, he/she shall conclusively be deemed to have resigned.
- M. A total of twenty (20) days paid leave of absence may be granted by the superintendent of schools to the Association for use by its officers or agents to attend professional meetings. The president of the Association shall provide a two (2) day advance written notice to the superintendent except when an emergency situation exists. The Association shall pay the cost of a substitute for each day so used and reimburse the District for the retirement contributions paid by the District for the absent employee.
- N. Act of God Days Policy
 - Sick Leave
 Sick leave will not be deducted on an Act of God Day unless teachers are required to
 report for inservice per Article VI section E-1.
 - Personal Business Leave
 Personal business day will not be deducted on an Act of God Day unless teachers are required to report for an inservice per Article VI Section E-1.
 - 3. Funeral Leave
 - a. Funeral leave day taken under Article X, Section D, will be deducted if an Act of God Day falls on a prearranged leave day and the individual uses that day for the purpose intended. The teacher will indicate to the building principal within two (2) days of returning from leave whether or not the leave was used.
 - b. Funeral leave taken under Article X, Section E, will not be deducted if the first day of such leave falls on an Act of God Day.
 - 4. Non-Paid Leave Day
 If an Act of God Day falls on a non-paid day, the day will not be paid and will be treated as if the Act of God Day did not exist.

O. Attendance Incentives

- 1. Teachers with the maximum of 90 days shall be granted the allotted ten days for use in the upcoming school year. If at the end of that school year the teacher has used two or less of those allotted ten days, the teacher shall be paid into a tax sheltered annuity 30% of the teachers daily rate (salary ∋ number of teacher work days). If the teacher used four or less sick days, the teacher shall receive 20% of their daily rate paid into a tax sheltered annuity. If the teacher is absent more than four days during that school year they shall receive no payment. The incentive payment by the school district shall not exceed \$25,000 per school year. If the amount would exceed the above maximum amounts, the percentage of payment shall be recalculated on a prorata share to eligible teachers.
- 2. Each teacher shall receive credit for three comp hours, or the financial equivalent, for each unused personal business day each school year.

Article XI Protection of Teachers

- A. Discipline Special Students. The Board will give reasonable support and assistance to teachers with respect to the maintenance of control and discipline in the classroom. Whenever it appears that a particular pupil requires the attention of special counselors, social workers, or law enforcement personnel, the teacher shall advise the principal, and if the principal concurs and such help is available, reasonable steps shall be taken to provide such special attention as is required. In the event of a disagreement, the teacher may appeal the decision to the superintendent.
- B. Care of Property and Safety of Pupils. Teachers shall be expected to exercise reasonable care with respect to safety of pupils and property and will be cautioned that they will be individually liable to pupils and/or parents for injury in the case of negligence.
- C. Assault. Any case of assault upon a teacher which had its inception in a school-centered problem shall be promptly reported to the Board or its designated representative. If the assault was by pupil(s), administration shall promptly investigate the matter and determine suitable treatment for this assaulting pupil(s). This decision shall be communicated to the teacher concerned. If the assault is by an adult, who is not a pupil, the Board or its designated representative shall promptly report the incident to the proper law enforcement authorities. Further, upon receiving the report of the assault, the administration will immediately implement the applicable provisions of board policy.
- D. Where the teacher is sued in either case above, any teacher not otherwise covered by insurance, either through MEA or some independent insurance carrier, may apply to the Board of Education for legal assistance. If the Board of Education shall determine that the teacher has acted within the scope of Board policy, the Board shall provide legal counsel to the teacher to advise him of his rights in the given incident. It being expressly understood that this advice may also include a trial but not an appeal thereof.
- E. Parent Complaint. Any complaints by a parent of a student directed toward a teacher shall be promptly called to the teacher's attention if considered serious enough by the appropriate administrator. The identity of the parent making the complaint shall be made known to the teacher.

F. Loss of time, injury at school. Any injury, including assaults, which arises out of or occurs in the course of employment of a teacher, shall be promptly reported to the building principal. The teacher shall be supplied with the appropriate forms in the event a workers' compensation claim is to be filed. If a teacher is involved in an assault as mentioned in Paragraph D above, and the Board of Education determines that the teacher has acted within the scope of Board policy, the teacher will not suffer a loss of sick days as a result of an injury incurred during the assault. Further, the district will supplement compensation (if not determined to be an "offset" under the LTD/ workers' compensation rules) to the extent needed to bring the total compensation to the current daily salary level of the assaulted staff person when only partial wages are being paid by workers' compensation, LTD, and/or social security disability, for the period of disability, but not longer than the equivalent of the qualification period of 90 days for LTD as provided for in Article XV. Insurance benefits will be provided by the District for the same period. In the event of an injury arising out of an assault, which occurred because the teacher was not acting within the scope of Board policy, accumulated sick leave may be used. However, it is expressly understood that the teacher may be subject to disciplinary action by the Board of Education if the situation warrants same.

Article XII Negotiation Procedures

- A. This Agreement shall automatically be renewed for one (1) full year after its termination date unless either party notifies the other in writing not more than two hundred ten (210) days nor less than ninety (90) days prior to its termination that it wishes to cancel the entire contract and enter into negotiations on a new contract.
- B. In any negotiations described in this Article, neither party shall have any control over the selection of the negotiating or bargaining representatives of the other party, and each party may select its representatives from within or outside the district. It is recognized that no final agreement between the parties may be executed without ratification by a majority of the membership of the Association and by a majority of the Board of Education, but the parties mutually pledge that representatives selected by each shall be clothed with the necessary power and authority to make proposals, consider proposals, and make concessions in the course of negotiations or bargaining, subject only to such ultimate ratification.
- C. If the parties fail to reach agreement in any such negotiations, either party may invoke the mediation machinery of the Michigan Employment Relations Commission.
- D. No Strike Clause with Penalty Provisions. The Association recognizes that strikes, as defined by Section 1 of Public Act 336 of 1947 of Michigan, as amended, by teachers, are contrary to law and public policy. The Board and the Association subscribe to the principle that differences shall be resolved by appropriate and peaceful means, in keeping with the high standards of the profession, without interruption of the school program. Accordingly, the Association agrees that during the term of this Agreement, it will not direct, instigate, participate in, encourage or support any strike against the Board by any teacher or group of teachers.

Further, it is agreed that in the event a strike or sanction is imposed against the Board of Education during the life of this contract, that its president and chairman of its negotiating

team will, within twenty-four (24) hours after the commencement of said strike or sanction, publicly by means of radio, television or publications circulated within the District, denounce said strike or sanction as contrary not only to this Agreement, but to the law and public policy of the State of Michigan and publicly state as aforesaid that it is not in keeping with the high standards of the profession of teaching. In the event said strike or sanction continues for more than twenty-four (24) hours, it is hereby agreed that the Board of Education may obtain a judgment in a court of competent jurisdiction, for the sum of not less than 1/45 of the then current State Aid, as stipulated damages to be levied against the Association and its members jointly and severally for each day that the strike thereafter continues.

Article XIII Grievance Procedure

A. A grievance shall be an alleged violation of the expressed terms of this contract or written Board policy. The Association shall have the right to file a grievance where the alleged violation is system wide provided that one or more teachers affected thereby sign the grievance as hereinafter specified.

The following matters shall not be the basis of any grievance filed under the procedure outlined in this Article:

- 1. The termination of services of or failure to re-employ any probationary teacher.
- 2. It is expressly understood that the grievance procedure shall not apply to those areas in which the Tenure Act prescribes a procedure or authorizes a remedy (discharge and/or demotion).
- 3. Class size may not be grieved (except Article VIII A-1, b. which may be grieved to Level Three only).
- 4. The content of any evaluation, the appointment or reappointment of extra curricular positions, or any matter whereby an alternative forum exists under state or federal law.
- B. The Association shall designate one association representative per building to handle grievances when requested by the grievant, and shall notify the superintendent of the names of said representatives not later than September 15th of each school year. The Board hereby designates the principal of each building to act as its representative at Level One as hereinafter described and the superintendent or his designated representative to act at Level Two as hereinafter described.
- C. The term "days" as used herein shall mean days in which school is in session. This includes days when the superintendent's office is open during the summer months.
- D. Written grievances as required herein shall contain the following:
 - 1. It shall be signed by the grievant or grievants;
 - 2. It shall be specific;
 - 3. It shall contain a synopsis of the facts giving rise to the alleged violation;
 - 4. It shall cite the section or subsections of this contract (or the written Board policy) alleged to have been violated;
 - 5. It shall contain the date of the alleged violation;
 - 6. It shall specify the relief requested.

Any written grievance not substantially in accordance with the above requirements may be rejected as improper. Such rejection shall not extend the limitation hereinafter set forth.

E. Level One. A teacher believing himself wronged by an alleged violation of the express provisions of this contract or written Board policies shall within five (5) days of its alleged occurrence file the grievance in writing with the building principal. Within five (5) days of receipt of the grievance, the principal shall arrange a meeting with the grievant to discuss solutions to the grievance. Within five (5) days of the discussion, the principal shall render his decision in writing, transmitting a copy of said decision to the grievant. If the decision is unsatisfactory to the grievant or if no decision is rendered, the grievant may appeal the grievance within five (5) days of the written decision of the principal or if no written decision is rendered within ten (10) days of the discussion with the principal to Level Two.

Level Two. A copy of the written grievance shall be filed with the superintendent or his designated agent as specified in Level One with the endorsement thereon of the approval or disapproval of the Association. Within ten (10) days of receipt of the grievance, the superintendent or his designated agent shall arrange a meeting with the grievant and/or the designated Association representative at the option of the grievant to discuss the grievance. Within ten (10) days of the discussion, the superintendent or his designated agent shall render his decision in writing, transmitting a copy of the same to the grievant, the Association secretary, the building principal in which the grievance arose, and place a copy of same in a permanent file in his office.

If no decision is rendered within ten (10) days of the discussion, or the decision is unsatisfactory to the grievant and the Association, the grievant may appeal same to the Board of Education by filing a written grievance along with the decision of the superintendent with the officer of the Board in charge of drawing up the agenda for the Board's meeting not less than five (5) days prior to the next regularly scheduled Board meeting.

Level Three. Upon proper application as specified in Level Two, the Board shall allow the teacher or his Association representative an opportunity to be heard at the meeting for which the grievance was scheduled. Within one (1) month from the hearing of the grievance, the Board shall render its decision in writing. The Board may hold future hearings therein or otherwise investigate the grievance, provided however, that in no event except with express consent of the Association shall final determination of the grievance be made by the Board more than one (1) month after the initial hearing. A copy of the written decision of the Board shall be forwarded to the superintendent for permanent filing, the building principal for the building in which the grievance arose, and the secretary of the Association. In cases involving class size, the matter shall be heard by a Board committee designated for that purpose. The committee shall hear any appeals from Level Two within fifteen (15) days of filing the appeal as specified in Level Two. The committee's recommendation for resolution shall be rendered in writing within ten (10) days of the Thereafter, if the Association disagrees with the committee's conclusion of hearings. recommendation, it may appeal to the full Board of Education at its next regular meeting.

Level Four. Individual teachers shall not have the right to process a grievance at Level Four.

1. If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level Three, it has ten (10) days after the decision of the Board, in writing, to request the

appointment of an arbitrator to hear the grievance. If the parties cannot agree upon an arbitrator, one shall be selected by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its rules.

- 2. Neither party may raise a new defense or ground at Level Four not previously raised or disclosed at other written levels. Each party shall submit to the other party not less than three (3) days prior to the hearing a pre-hearing statement alleging facts, grounds and defenses which will be proven at the hearing and hold a conference at that time in an attempt to settle a grievance.
- 3. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the arbitrator shall not have the power to add to, modify, alter or amend, or subtract from the terms of this Agreement. He shall not hear any grievance previously barred from the scope of the grievance procedure, nor shall he question the reasonableness of Board policy, nor review non-renewal nor new assignments of extra duties for extra pay as outlined in Schedule B.

If any grievance award shall include back pay, his award shall not extend more than thirty (30) days prior to the date of the Level One Conference.

- 4. Grievances of similar nature may not be considered except upon express written mutual consent.
- 5. The costs of arbitration shall be borne equally by the parties except each party shall assume its own cost for representation. The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding on both parties.
- F. Should a teacher or the Association fail to institute or appeal a decision within the time limits specified, or leave the employ of the Board, all further proceedings on previously instituted grievance (except a claim involving a remedy directly benefiting the grievant regardless of his employment) shall be barred.
- G. All preparation, filing, presentation or consideration of grievances through Level Four shall be held at times other than when a teacher or a participating Association representative is to be at his/her assigned duty stations.

Article XIV Completion of Agreement

The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Board and the Association, for the life of the Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subjects or matters may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time that they negotiated or signed this Agreement.

Article XV <u>Insurance</u>

Α. Fringe Benefits

Except as provided in A. 3., the employer shall provide without cost to the bargaining unit member the following MESSA Choices II-PAK for a full twelve (12) month period for the bargaining unit member and his/her entire family. MESSA Choices II-PAK with Mental Health Rider and a Rx Co-pay Rider of \$10 generic/\$20 brand co-pay, reimbursement to \$2 mail service co-pay and Delta Dental 80/80/80 1,000 with rider 80: 3,000.

Bargaining Unit Members selecting Plan A health insurance with \$10/\$20 prescription drug coverage shall be reimbursed to a \$5/\$10 co-pay on prescriptions and a \$2 co-pay for mailin prescriptions. The district will also reimburse for any other prescription costs incurred over the \$5/\$10 & \$2 mail in co-pay.

Such MESSA Choices II-PAK shall not provide coverage for abortion or abortion-related services pursuant to Section 102 of the State Aid Act. The employer shall sign an Employer Participation Agreement. Bargaining unit members not electing MESSA Choices II-PAK Plan A will select MESSA Plan B or Plan C.

Plan A - For employees electing health insurance

Health Choices II w/Rx \$10.00/\$20.00/\$2.00 Co-pay

Long Term Disability 66 2/3%

\$4,500 maximum

90 Calendar Days - Modified Fill Pre-Existing Condition Waiver

Freeze on Offsets

Alcoholism/Drug - 2 year limitation Mental/Nervous - 2 year limitation

Negotiated Life \$50,000 with AD&D

Vision VSP-2

Dental 80/80/80: \$1000 Rider 80: 3,000

Plan B - For employees not electing health insurance

Long Term Disability Same as above Negotiated Life \$50,000 with AD&D

Vision VSP-2

Dental 80/80/80: \$1000 Rider 80: 3,000

For employees not electing health: The employer shall, on a monthly basis, contribute \$100 to be placed in an annuity in a mutually agreeable carrier.

Plan C - For employees not electing health, vision or dental insurance

The employer shall, on a monthly basis, contribute \$235 toward any MESSA option or a cash option as provided in the Cadillac Area Public Schools Cafeteria Plan. The employer shall also pay for the above listed LTD and life insurance.

Flex Spending Plan (125) for Medical and/or Childcare Expenses: The District will 2. make available a Flex Spending Plan (125) for Medical and/or childcare expenses in accordance with Federal Law. The Plan will be limited to medical and/or childcare expenses.

3. The Board will pay up to a total of Twelve hundred and nine dollars (\$1,209.00) per month for Plan A during the 2006-07 school year; total of Twelve hundred and ninety-nine dollars (\$1,299.00) per month for Plan A during the 2007-08 school year. (Additional carry-over above 2005-06 escrow amount of \$60,000 will be set aside for future health insurance increases.) Should a successor agreement not be in place by September 1, 2008, the Board contribution will increase to thirteen hundred, seventy seven dollars (\$1,377.00) per month. The Board will not be obligated to reimburse insurance deductions withheld through the settlement of this agreement. If the cost of health insurance benefits is less than these dollar limits, surplus dollars shall be placed in escrow and will be used to maintain future benefit levels. The ceiling for 2008-09 is \$1,377.00 per month.

If the premium costs exceed the ceiling amount for any given year, the Association shall have the right to elect one of the following options:

- a.) continue the same coverage with payroll deduction for the balance over the above-stated percentage increases;
- b.) reduce evenly the salary schedule to reflect the cost of insurance over the above-stated percentage increase.

The employer shall adopt and make available a Section 125 premium conversion option for employees should option one (1) be selected. In the absence of the Association's choice prior to the implementation of the rate increases, the Board shall implement payroll deductions.

- 4. If payroll deduction is implemented, it shall commence with the first paycheck in September, retroactive to July 1, and be evenly distributed throughout the 21 or 26 pays for that school year.
- 5. It is understood that as in the past (i.e.: a teacher teaching three classes per day receives .60 of the full benefit amount under the plan selected), regularly employed part-time teachers shall be eligible for a pro-rata amount of all benefits in relation to their part-time duties as well as paying for either husband or wife if both are employed by the District but not duplicate coverage.
- 6. It is understood that Plan C may only be used by employees not selecting Plan A or B. The teacher may purchase non-taxable options up to a figure equal to the Plan B premiums, minus that deducted for LTD and life insurance. Part-time employees are subject to the proration (paragraph 5) as in Plan A or B.
- 7. The parties may agree to provide an additional carrier or alternative health insurance plan.
- 8. Employees not taking health insurance shall provide a confirmation that they have health insurance elsewhere.
- B. In the event of the death of a bargaining unit member, the Board shall continue payments of the contributions for the applicable MESSA-PAK Plan stated in Paragraph A for the bargaining unit member's eligible dependents, who are receiving the coverage at the time of the bargaining unit member's death, for a period of six (6) months, to begin on the first month following the date of death. Dependents must continue to meet all eligibility requirements established in the policy.

C. The Board shall provide workers' compensation as provided by law. All teachers are covered by Michigan Workers' Compensation Law. Accidents and injuries are to be reported to the employee's supervisor immediately. Employer liability shall be in accordance with the law.

Article XVI Teacher Evaluation

- A. A teacher or school social worker shall be evaluated on a periodic basis.
- Tenure Teacher Evaluation. Principals will periodically visit classrooms in the buildings and B. evaluate teachers' effectiveness at least once every three (3) years. At the request of the teacher or administrator, a teacher will be evaluated more frequently than once every three (3) years. There will be a pre-conference before each observation. The pre-conference may be very informal and occur at any time before an observation. The administrator will observe the teacher a minimum of three (3) times before the summary teacher's performance review is completed. If it is mutually agreed upon by the teacher and administrator there may be only two (2) observations. If requested by either the teacher or administrator, there may be more than three observations. The observation form, completed by the principal, will be in triplicate, with copies going to the superintendent, the principal, and the teacher. A critique will be held within three (3) days of each observation between the evaluator and the teacher unless they mutually agree, in writing, to meet at a later date. Neither party will unreasonably decline an extension up to seven (7) additional days for the completion of the observation and evaluation conferences.

The evaluator shall complete the summary evaluation form and meet with the teacher prior to the end of the school year. The summary evaluation form shall be completed in triplicate, with copies going to the superintendent, the principal, and the teacher. Anything the administrator finds to be unsatisfactory or needing improvement will be presented in writing to the teacher during the post conference. If a tenured teacher's evaluation is less than satisfactory, the district must provide an individualized development plan for the teacher. The failure to meet the triennial evaluation requirement or to provide an individualized development plan, if necessary, serves as conclusive evidence that the tenured teacher's performance was satisfactory for the entire three (3) year period.

C. Probationary Teachers. All new teachers hired are required to serve a four (4) year probationary period. A probationary teacher employed for at least a full school year must be given an individualized development plan. Each probationary teacher also must undergo an annual year-end performance evaluation (summary) which includes an assessment of the teacher's progress in meeting the goals set forth in his or her I.D.P. At the end of any year of probationary service, the teacher may be non-renewed without regard to the IDP completion.

The evaluation must be based on a least three (3) classroom observations prior to April 1st for probationary teachers hired at the beginning of the school year. In other cases the evaluation will be completed at least ninety (90) days prior to the anniversary date. Two (2) observations must be conducted not less than sixty (60) days apart, unless there is a written mutual agreement to a shorter interval. The informal preconference will occur at any time before an observation. If it is mutually agreed upon by the teacher and administrator

there may be only two (2) observations. If requested by either the teacher or administrator there may be more than three (3) observations. These additional observations will be made by the assigned building principal or the probationary teacher may request one (1) of these to be made by a principal from another building within the system.

The assigned building principal may request an observation of the probationary teacher by a principal from another building by February 1st. The observation form, completed by the observer, will be in triplicate, with copies going to the superintendent, the principal and the probationary teacher.

A critique of an observation will be held within three (3) days between the observer and the teacher unless they mutually agree in writing to meet at a later date. Neither party shall unreasonably decline an extension of time up to an additional seven (7) days for completion of the critique of the observation.

The summary performance evaluation form will be completed by the assigned building principal, or his designee administrator, and will take into consideration the observations of all observers and the goals of the I.D.P. This summary evaluation form will be completed in triplicate, with copies going to the superintendent, the principal, and the teacher. Anything the administrator finds to be unsatisfactory or needing improvement will be presented in writing to the teacher during the post conference and in the I.D.P. If the District fails to provide an individualized development plan except in the first year of employment for, or annual evaluation of, a probationary teacher, the failure serves as conclusive evidence that the provisionary teacher's performance for that year was satisfactory.

A principal observation, I.D.P. and/or summary performance evaluation may be completed by another administrator assigned by the superintendent.

- D. Each teacher/school social worker shall have the right, upon request, to review the contents of his own personnel file. A representative of the Association may, at the teacher's request, accompany the teacher in this review. Each teacher's personnel file shall contain the following minimum items of information:
 - 1. All teacher/school social worker evaluation reports;
 - Copies of annual contracts;
 - 3. Teacher/school social worker certificate;
 - 4. A transcript of academic records;
 - 5. Tenure recommendation (not applicable to school social workers).

Any anecdotal information compiled during observations of teachers and not referred to in the written evaluation report at the end of the evaluation period or by June 30th annually shall not be referred to in subsequent evaluation.

No material may be placed therein without allowing the teacher an opportunity to file a response thereto, and said response shall become a part of said file. Any rebuttals to such information must be completed and received within 30 calendar days of the employee receiving the document. If a teacher is asked to sign material placed in his file, such signature shall mean he is aware of the material, but shall not mean he is in agreement with the content of the material.

If the administration and the teacher both believe the material is in error, the material will be corrected or expunged from the personnel file, whichever is appropriate, and the erroneous material will be given to the teacher.

Should an arbitrator determine that the grieved material is in error, then the material found to be in error will be corrected or expunged from the personnel file, whichever is appropriate, and the erroneous material will be given to the teacher.

No teacher shall be disciplined without just cause. Just cause shall not apply to any termination or reduction in compensation except as specified in the Teacher Tenure Act.

- E. No school social workers shall be disciplined without just cause after completion of four years of probationary service. The term "discipline" as used in this Agreement includes written reprimands, suspensions with or without pay, or discharge. Any such discipline shall be subject to the grievance procedure. Probationary teachers, social workers or itinerants may be subject to non-renewal without recourse to arbitration.
- F. The Board and Association realize that a new teacher may need help and orientation to be an effective teacher in the Cadillac Area Public Schools. The parties agree that providing Mentor Teachers for probationary teachers is an essential practice and further agree to cooperate in providing this assistance.
 - A Mentor Teacher shall be defined as a Master Teacher as identified in Section 1526
 of the School Code and shall perform the duties of a Master Teacher as specified on
 the code. The Mentor Teacher may be a member of the bargaining unit.
 - 2. Each Bargaining Unit Member in his/her first three (3) years in the classroom shall be assigned a Mentor Teacher by the Association with the approval of the Administration. The parties agree that should the Association fail to provide the administration with sufficient individuals to serve as Mentor Teachers that the Board, after ten (10) work days' notice to the Association, may assign current tenured staff members to serve as mentors. The Mentor Teacher shall be available to provide professional support, instruction and guidance. The purpose of the mentor assignment is to provide a peer who can offer assistance, resources and information in a non-threatening collegial fashion.
 - 3. A Mentor Teacher shall be assigned in accordance with the following:
 - a. The Mentor Teacher may be a tenured member of the bargaining unit.
 - b. Participation as a Mentor Teacher may be voluntary.
 - c. The District shall immediately notify the Association of those members requiring a mentor.
 - d. The Administration shall notify the Association when a potential Mentor Teacher is matched with a Bargaining Unit Member (Mentee). This assignment should be finalized within thirty (30) days of the commencement of the starting date of the Mentee.
 - e. Every effort will be made to match Mentor Teachers and Mentees who work in the same building and have the same area of certification.
 - f. The Mentor Teacher shall only be assigned to one (1) Mentee at a time.
 - 4. Because the purpose of the Mentor/Mentee match is to acclimate the Bargaining Unit Member and to provide necessary assistance toward the end of the quality instruction, the Board and the Association agree the relationship shall not, in any fashion, be a matter included in the evaluation of the Mentor Teacher or Mentee.

- Neither the Mentor Teacher nor the Mentee shall be permitted to participate in any matter related to the evaluation of the other.
- 5. Upon request, the administration may make available reasonable release time so the Mentor Teacher may work with the Mentee in his/her assignment during the regular workday. Where possible the Mentor Teacher and Mentee shall be assigned common preparation time.
- 6. Mentees may be provided with a minimum of fifteen (15) days of professional development induction during their first three (3) years of classroom teaching. Teachers who attend induction training during the regular workday will receive their regular salary. The Board may pay for such training, which occurs outside the regular workday, or work year. The training dates, if possible, will be a part of the negotiated calendar.
- 7. A Mentor Teacher, with the permission of the mentee, will attend the administrator/mentee meeting after each observation.

Article XVII Reduction in Personnel

- A. Seniority. New employees hired into the unit shall be considered as probationary employees as prescribed by the Tenure Act. Non-certified itinerants and school social workers are subject to a four year probationary period.
- B. The term "seniority" as hereinafter used shall mean the length of continuous employment with the Cadillac Board of Education as a teacher, school social worker, or administrator from last date of hire. The seniority date shall be the 1st day of work except employees hired prior to June 6, 1991, whose seniority date shall be as stated on the December 12, 1991 seniority list which shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

A teacher, school social worker, or administrator shall be "employed" for seniority purposes when performing services for the District for pay. Teachers, school social workers, or administrators on an unpaid leave of absence for a full semester or a full school year will not accrue seniority during the leave of absence. Substitute teachers, long term substitutes, or reserve teachers shall not accumulate seniority while in that status. Teachers, school social workers, or administrators do not accrue seniority while on layoff.

Credit given for outside teaching experience shall not count for seniority purposes.

Previously accumulated seniority shall be forfeited if a teacher, school social worker, or administrator resigns or is terminated completely from employment with the District.

- C. Probationary teachers and probationary school social workers shall not have seniority. Tenure teachers, non-probationary school social workers, and administrators shall accumulate seniority from their last date of hire.
- D. The Board of Education shall prepare a seniority list by years of continuous employment in the Cadillac Area Public Schools system and transmit a copy of the same to the Association on or before the 1st day of October of each year of this contract. By October 15, any objections to the seniority list shall be submitted and thereafter, the seniority list shall be considered as final and conclusive until August 31st of the following year.

- E. Necessary Reduction of Personnel Layoff. Economics, student enrollment and student programs may require a reduction to the educational program, curriculum and staff.
 - 1. It is within the sole discretion of the Board of Education to reduce the education program and curriculum.
 - 2. To promote an orderly reduction in personnel the following procedure will be used:
 - a. Teachers and school social workers within the system may be given the opportunity to elect a one-half (1/2) day assignment if the schedule permits for one (1) school year. It is expressly understood that the teacher and school social worker shall return to full time teacher status at the end of that school year. The teacher may re-apply for half time status each year.
 - b. Probationary employees will be laid off first where any tenured teacher who has been curtailed is certified and highly qualified (if applicable) to perform the services of the probationary teacher or probationary school social worker.
 - c. In the event seniority teachers and school social workers must be laid off, it is understood that certification and being highly qualified as required by the Department of Education shall be of paramount importance. No teacher will be retained that does not have the necessary certification and qualifications to fill the remaining positions as determined by the Board of Education. Certification and qualification is required at the time of layoff.

Once the requirement of certification and qualification is satisfied, teachers and school social workers will be laid off by seniority. Where seniority is equal, management will decide which teacher will be laid off on the basis of knowledge, skill and efficiency on the job as determined by the teachers' classroom visitations and summary evaluations, and consideration of extracurricular activities. It is expressly understood that the Association shall have the right to review the layoff list prior to notification of the individuals to be laid off. In the event of a dispute concerning the layoff list, the Association shall have the right to file a written grievance thereon within not more than seventy-two (72) hours after the meeting. The administration shall not be required to engage in creative scheduling to keep the most senior teachers on the staff.

- d. Laid off tenure teachers may apply for reserve teacher status. If the superintendent accepts the application, the teacher shall then agree to substitute teach each day of the school year at no less than the rate for long term substitutes, and in addition thereto shall continue to receive insurance benefits as provided in the Master Agreement. Reserve teachers shall not accumulate seniority while in reserve status and shall be excluded from the bargaining unit, to the extent permitted by law.
- e. The Association and the District will meet to discuss a solution if any teacher is found not to be highly qualified within his or her current assignment.
- F. Recall. Seniority teachers and school social workers shall be recalled in inverse order of layoff for full-time position openings for which they are certified and qualified, including those teachers who are on reserve teacher status.
- G. The recall list shall be maintained by the Board for a period not to exceed three (3) years. Thereafter, a teacher shall lose his right to recall.
- H. "Certified" shall be as required by the Department of Education to teach subject matter in all grades. "Qualified" shall mean that Cadillac Area Public Schools will require an

endorsement to teach in physical education, vocal or instrumental music, sex education, and counseling or other state mandated endorsement or as specified by NCLB. Endorsement is also required to teach library in grades 6-12 or any other category necessary to receive state aid or federal reimbursement.

I. Teachers who receive unemployment insurance during school breaks and return to work with no loss of pay or work hours shall reimburse the district the unemployment compensation paid.

Article XVIII Miscellaneous Provisions

- A. It shall be the Board's responsibility to acquire substitutes for absent teachers if substitutes are available.
- B. The Association shall be informed whenever possible by the Board of fiscal, budgetary, and tax programs affecting the District.
- C. The Association shall deal with ethical problems arising under the Code of Ethics of the Education Association Profession in accordance with the terms thereof, and the Board recognizes that the Code of Ethics of the Educational Profession is considered by the Association and its membership to define acceptable criteria of professional behavior.
- D. This Agreement shall supersede any rules, regulations or practices of the Board which shall be contrary or inconsistent with its terms. It shall likewise supersede any contrary or inconsistent terms contained in any individual teacher contracts and individual contracts shall be made expressly subject to the terms of this Agreement.
- E. Copies of this Agreement shall be printed at the expense of the Board and presented to all teachers now employed or hereafter employed by the Board within thirty (30) days after ratification.
- F. If any provision or application of this Agreement to any employee or group of employees shall be found contrary to law, then such provision or application shall not be deemed valid and subsisting except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications shall continue in full force and effect.
- G. The Board shall not enter into a contract which will result in instruction being provided by any organization other than the Association without consulting with the Association, recognizing that the suggestions and counsel would be helpful in reaching a decision thereon.
- H. Each teacher shall elect to be paid in twenty-six (26) or twenty-one (21) equal installments. Failure to notify the bookkeeper, in writing within three days of the first day staff reports each year shall result in the individual being paid in twenty-six (26) equal installments.
- 1. The CEA Executive Board will encourage and help solicit teachers to volunteer to assist with school activities.

J. Graduate Credit Reimbursement

- 1. The Board will pay up to three hundred dollars (\$300) per credit hour for the first eighteen (18) semester hours beyond the B.A. /B.S. certificate. These classes must be approved in advance by the Superintendent and must apply to the teacher's present or projected teaching/administrative assignment. Teachers must receive a minimum grade of "B" to receive reimbursement. The maximum Board contribution (total staff pool) shall be seventeen thousand five hundred dollars (\$17,500) each year. All requests for reimbursement of tuition, with proof of successful passing of the class, shall be made in writing to the Superintendent and be submitted not later than June 15th. A tally will be provided, on request, of the total credit hours currently approved for the The payment shall be made to all qualifying requests fiscal vear. submitted by June 15th. If requests exceed the seventeen thousand five hundred dollar (\$17,500) amount allowed by contract, the total amount shall be prorated on a credit hour basis by dividing the total hours of credit payment requested into the amount and paying that amount per credit hour to all approved requests. A six (6) semester hour limit per applicant per year will exist. Tuition reimbursement will be through accounts payable, not through payroll.
- 2. The Board will reimburse up to six credits every five years for continuing certification if a balance remains from Article XVIII, J (1). If necessary, this will be subject to proration of those applying for reimbursement for continuing certification.

Article XIX

This Agreement shall be effective as of the 1st day of September 2006, and shall continue in effect for the two (2) year term of this Agreement until the 31st day of August 2008.

This Agreement shall not be altered or amended except upon mutual consent of the parties hereto.

CADILLAC AREA PUBLIC SCHOOLS WEXFORD, OSCEOLA & LAKE COUNTIES

۵V.

Its President

Its Secretary

CADILLAC EDUCATION ASSOCIATION MEA/NEA

BY:

Its Presiden

AND

BY:

Its Secretary

Schedule A - Salary Schedule

2007-08	M.A.	1.25%	\$ 35,642	36,673	37,686	38,375	39,051	39,706	40,361	41,044	41,733	42,580	43,420	44,255	45,100	46,106	47,113	49,479	50,511	51,553	52,594	54,362	60,954	62,104	62,329	\$ 62,554
2006-07	M.A.	2.5%	\$ 35,202	36,220	37,220	37,901	38,569	39,215	39,863	40,537	41,218	42,054	42,884	43,708	44,543	45,537	46,532	48,868	49,888	50,916	51,945	53,690	60,201	61,351	61,576	\$ 61,801
2005-06	M.A.		\$ 34,344	35,337	36,313	36,977	37,628	38,259	38,891	39,548	40,213	41,029	41,838	42,642	43,456	44,426	45,397	47,676	48,671	49,674	50,678	52,381	58,733	59,883	60,108	\$ 60,333
2007-08	B.A.+30	1.25%	\$ 34,111	35,020	35,932	36,559	37,188	37,812	38,435	39,062	39,689	40,470	41,254	42,034	42,812	43,752	44,695	46,893	47,859	48,823	49,787	51,464	57,636	58,636	58,861	\$ 59,086
2006-07	B.A.+30	2.5%	\$ 33,690	34,588	35,488	36,108	36,729	37,346	37,961	38,579	39,199	39,971	40,744	41,515	42,284	43,212	44,143	46,314	47,268	48,220	49,172	50,829	56,925	57,925	58,150	\$ 58,375
2002-06	B.A.+30		\$ 32,868	33,744	34,622	35,227	35,833	36,435	37,035	37,638	38,243	38,996	39,751	40,503	41,253	42,158	43,067	45,184	46,115	47,044	47,973	49,589	55,536	56,536	56,761	\$ 56,986
2007-08	B.A.	1.25%	\$ 33,478	34,385	35,297	35,924	36,554	37,178	37,802	38,427	39,054	39,837	40,619	41,399	42,179	43,118	44,061	46,258	47,224	48,188	49,153	50,829	57,001	58,001	58,226	\$ 58,451
2006-07	B.A.	2.5%	\$ 33,064	33,960	34,861	35,481	36,102	36,719	37,335	37,952	38,572	39,345	40,118	40,888	41,658	42,585	43,517	45,687	46,641	47,593	48,547	50,202	56,298	57,298	57,523	\$ 57,748
2005-06	B.A.		32,258	33,132	34,011	34,615	35,222	35,823	36,424	37,027	37,631	38,385	39,139	39,891	40,642	41,547	42,455	44,573	45,504	46,433	47,363	48,977	54,925	55,925	56,150	56,375
CVI		}	₩	1.5	7	2.5	က	3.5	4	4.5	2	5.5	9	6.5	7	7.5	∞	8.5	တ	ල ව	-	10.5	11-12	16*		\$ 26*

* Denotes longevity steps

ADDITIONAL SCHEDULE A PROVISIONS

1. Longevity. For all teachers commencing their 16th year of seniority in the Cadillac Area Public Schools, in addition to the salary stated at Step 11, they shall receive an additional \$1,000 if on the BA Schedule or \$1,150 if on the MA Schedule.

For all teachers commencing their 21st year of seniority in the Cadillac Area Public Schools, in addition to the salary stated at Step 11, they shall receive an additional \$1,225 if on the BA Schedule or \$1,375 if on the MA Schedule.

For all teachers commencing their 26th year of seniority in Cadillac Area Public Schools, in addition to the salary stated at Step 11, they shall receive an additional \$1,450 if on the BA Schedule or \$1,600 if on the MA Schedule. A year may commence at the end of a semester with the dollar amount paid to be one-half of the annual dollars paid for longevity.

- 2. The Board will pay the teachers' retirement contributions required by statute.
- 3. For 2006-07 there is a 2.5% salary increase.
- 4. For 2007-08 there is a 1.25% salary increase plus:

(based on state foundation allowance)

.75% additional if increase is \$200.00

.50% additional if increase is \$150.00

.25% additional if increase is \$100.00

LONGEVITY PAYMENT - SLIDING SCALE

If the insurance premium increase in the MESSA PAC Plan A is under seven percent (7%) from the prior year, then the dollar amounts at the indicated percentage will be paid to each staff member being paid on any longevity step. (This is a one-time payment in the year of the savings.)

Percent	Amount	Percent	Amount
6.90	\$ 7.00	4.90	\$147.00
6.80	\$ 14.00	4.80	\$154.00
6.70	\$ 21.00	4.70	\$161.00
6.60	\$ 28.00	4.60	\$168.00
6.50	\$ 35.00	4.50	\$175.00
6.40	\$ 42.00	4.40	\$182.00
6.30	\$ 49.00	4.30	\$189.00
6.20	\$ 56.00	4.20	\$196.00
6.10	\$ 63.00	4.10	\$203.00
6.00	\$ 70.00	4.00	\$210.00
5.90	\$ 77.00	3.90	\$217.00
5.80	\$ 84.00	3.80	\$224.00
5.70	\$ 91.00	3.70	\$231.00
5.60	\$ 98.00	3.60	\$238.00
5.50	\$105.00	3.50	\$245.00
5.40	\$112.00	3.40	\$252.00
5.30	\$119.00	3.30	\$259.00
5.20	\$126.00	3.20	\$266.00
5.10	\$133.00	3.10	\$273.00
5.00	\$140.00	3.00	\$280.00

	SCHEDULE B		ADVISORS:		
			Senior Class	-Chairperson	3%
ATHLETICS	:			-Asst. Chairperson	
Baseball	-Head	10%	Junior Class	-Chairperson	4.5%
	-Assistant (JV-Freshman)	7%		-Asst. Chairperson	
Basketball (E	Boys & Girls)-		Sophomore	-Chairperson	2%
`	-Head	12%		-Asst. Chairperson	
	-Assistant (JV-Freshman)	9%	Freshman	-Chairperson	2%
Cheerleading	g-Varsity (2 seasons)	9%		-Asst. Chairperson	
·	-JV (2 seasons)	8%	H.S. Student Counc	cil-Chairnerson	4%
	-Freshman (2 seasons)	7%		cil-Asst. Chairpersor	
	-Competitive only	2%	J.H. Student Counc	cil-Chairnerson	3%
Cross Count		7%	J.H. Student Counc	cil-Asst. Chairperson	
	-Assistant	5%	M.S.Student Counc	il-Chairperson	3%
Football	-Head	12%		cil-Asst. Chairperson	
	-Assistant	9%		m / look of an poroon	2.0 /6
Golf	-Head	7%	INSTRUMENTAL N	NUSIC:	
Gymnastics	-Head	12%	Marching Band	-Director	6%
-	-Assistant	9%		-Assistants	4%
Hockey	-Head	12%	Fall Concert	-Director	1%
Skiing	-Head	10%	H.S. Symphony	-Director	3%
	-Assistant	7%	Wind Ensemble	-Director	3%
Soccer (Boys	s & Girls)		Jazz Band	-Director	4%
	-Head	10%	9 th Grade	-Director	3%*
	-Assistant (JV)	7%	8 th Grade	-Director	3%*
Softball	-Head	10%	7 th Grade	-Director	3%*
	-Assistant (JV-Freshman)	7%	6 th Grade	-Director	3%*
Tennis (Boys	•		Percussion, Flags	-Assistant	3%
	-Head	7%	Pep Band	-Director	2%
	-Assistant (JV)	5%	·		
Track (Boys	•		*If assistant is provid	ded, the 3% is 2% fo	r
	-Head	10%	Director and 1% for	the assistant.	
	-Assistant	7%			
Volleyball	-Head	10%	VOCAL MUSIC:		
	-Assistant (JV)	7%	Honors/Troubadour	Choir 9-12	4%
	-Assistant (Freshman)	5%	Chorale		2%
Wrestling	-Head	10%	Treble Choir		2%
	-Assistant	7%	8 th Grade Choir		2%
			7 th Grade Choir		2%
	ol/Grade 7 &/or Grade 8:		6 th Grade Choir/Per	Teacher	2%
Basketball (B	•	4%	Elem. Choir/Bldg./Te	eacher	1%
Cross Countr	•	3%	Musical	-Director	8%
	-Assistant	2%		-Assistant Director	5%
Football		4%			
	-Head	3%			
	-Assistant	2%			
Volleyball		3%			
Wrestling		3%			

SCHEDULE B: Continued

0701100 14	1010-	
STRINGS MU 8 th -12 th – Dire		2%
· –		2% 2%
7 th - Dire	· ·	
6 th - Dire	ector	2%
OTHER POS	SITIONS:	
Debate		6%
Debate	-9 th Grade	4%
Dept. Coordi	-	3%-6%
Drama	14.01	5%
Forensics		6%
Forensics	-9 th Grade	4%
Intramural	-Director M.S	10%
Newspaper	-High School	6%
Newspaper	-Junior High	6%
School Bank	_	10%
Yearbook	-High School	11%
Yearbook	-High School Assistant	5%
Yearbook	-Junior High	7%
Yearbook	-Middle School	2%
Alternative S	sch.Sports Coordinator /	Sem. \$700
	School per Sport	\$200
Club Advisor	• •	\$200
	dvisor-Semester	\$100
District IAC		\$300
Driver Educa	•	\$20/hr
Intramural B	asketball-H.S. Director	\$700
Intramural		\$9/hr
Library Tead	-	\$9/hr
National Hor		\$300
NCA Chairp	erson	1%-3%
Saturday Sc		\$14/hr
	Bldg./Semester	\$100
	ver Education	Per Diem

FOOTNOTES

- 1. If class time is provided for newspaper and/or yearbook at either level, rate would be reduced by (1%).
- 2. Use of driver training cars by instructors is not a guarantee of this contract and is subject to requirements of car dealers of Cadillac School District.
- 3. Athletic Trainer may be contracted out by Board of Education.
- 4. Percentage of Schedule B pay is based on experience in actual field and is computed on the B.A. schedule through step 11.
- 5. If a Schedule B duty is discontinued or reduced during the school year in which services are being rendered, payment will be made on a pro rata basis.
- 6. The duties contained in Schedule B are not to be performed by administrative staff unless a qualified teacher within the bargaining unit will not perform the duty.
- 7. The district will establish each year appropriate funding for activity clubs to be determined by the administration and staff. Such club sponsors shall be paid at the Schedule B rate and shall not exceed four (4) clubs per year per elementary building (excluding gifted and talented activity and other school curriculum associated activity).

Cadillac Area Public Schools Calendar

2006-2007 / / 2007-2008

Parent conferences will be the same as in the past, in November and February, with staff input to determine the dates and times, grades K-5 and 6-12.

To help facilitate more instructional time, spring conference will be as follows:

- Each teacher will prioritize and make a list of students with the highest need and will schedule a parent-teacher conference with that parent(s).
- The student list will consist of fifteen (15) students or 50% of that teachers' caseload, whichever is lower.
- This list will be submitted to the administrator for his/her review in a timely fashion for the office to schedule the conferences.
- Parents that drop-in for a conference will be accommodated.
- Conference times will be as follows:
 - o K-5 4:30 p.m. to 8:30 p.m.
 - o Grade 6-12 will be 4:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m.
 - o The above times will include at least a thirty (30) minute break.

Further, the Adult Daytime High School Completion Program and Alternative Education Program calendar dates will be jointly determined by the administration and the Association in accordance with Schedule D Addendum ADHSC and Addendum No. 2 Alternative Education Program.

A calendar reflecting Cadillac Area Public Schools extended school year / Year-Round Education voluntary program may be implemented.

There shall be no increase in the required number of days or hours of pupil instruction if the increase in the basic foundation allowance is less than the percentage increase in the CPI. In that case, the increase in days or hours will be postponed until the increase in the basic foundation grant is equal to or greater than the CPI increase.

The start date for the 2006-07 school year is planned for August 29, 2006 for teachers and the planned first day for students is September 5, 2006. The start date for the 2007-08 school year is planned for August 28, 2007 for teachers and the planned first day for students is September 4, 2007.

		au. 40st							ve	C+L 10+L		1mm 40 11mH			
_		6th-12th							K-5	6th-12th		Jan. 19 Half	-		
Teachers	Studen	Student						Teacher	Student	Student		Jan. 19 K-7	Profession	ai Development	
Davs.	Days	Days.						Days	<u>Days</u>	Days.		Jan 19 8-12	Records D	ay	
3	0	0	<u>August</u>					22	21.5	21.5	January				
			Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday				Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday
			•	1	2	3	4				4	2	3	4	5
			7	8	9	10	11				8	9	10	11	12
			14	15	16	17	18				15	16	17	18	19/RD/PD]
Teacher	re etert	20th	21	22	23	24	25				22	23	24	25	26
Cache	9 3(#11	2311	28	PD	PD	PD					29	30	31	20	20
						. •						•	٠.		
			.								5.4	_			
19	19	19	Septemb					18	18	18	Februar	_			
			Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	•				Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday
					_		D. Holiday				_			1	2
Student	ts start	5th	L.D. Holiday	5	6	7	8				5	6	7	8	9
			11	12	13	14	15				12	13	14	15	Holiday
			18	19	2 0	21	22				Holiday	20	21	2 2	2 3
			25	2 6	. 27	2 8	29				2 6	27	2 8		
22	22	22	October					22	22	22	March				
			Monday		Wed.	Thursday	Friday					Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday
			2	3	4	5	6			F 10 18	Monday	desday	Wou.		-
			9	10	11	12	13				5	6	7	1	2
			16	17	18	19	20				12	13		8	9
			23	24	25	26	20 27				19	20	14	15	16
			23 30	24 31	23	26	41				26		21	22	23
			30	31							20	27	28	2 9	[30]
19	17.5	17.5	Novemb	er				16	16	16	<u>April</u>				
PTC 9	th		Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday				Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday
					PD/ISD	2	[3]				4-		4	-5	Good Friday
			6	7	8	9/PTC	10				9	10	11	12	13
			13	14	DĐ	16	17				16	17	18	19	20
			20	21	2 2	Thanksglving	g-Holiday				23	24	25	2 6	27
			27	28	2 9	30					30				
	4-		Decemb					22	22	22	May				
15	15	15	_		·	Thursday	Enista.	22	44	46		T			
			wonday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday					Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday
			4	5	6	7	1 8				7	1 8	2 9	3	4
				=									-	10	11
			11	12	13	14	15				14	15	16	17	18
			18	19	20 27	21 28	22 29				21	22	23	24	25
78	73.5	73.6	5 25	26	47	20	40				Holiday	29	30	31	
								6	5.5	5. 5	<u>June</u>				
			. 51	131-40 6 5	7- h	00 @ 1.00 =					Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday
⊨arly	Lien	nentar	y Dismissa	II NOV 3 & I	-eoruary	23 @ 1:20 p	.ın.				4	_	e	-9	1
***	-ant T	aache	r Conf Sch	هارياه							11	5 12	6 13	7	8/RD
	mber		JUIN JUIN								18			14	15
			7.4E =								10	19	2 0	21	2 2
			':45 p.m.					194.0	178 =	179 =	2004.07.6	cheduled D	21/0		
0-12	JOIN.	12:30 (o 7:00 p.m.										•	4 4 .	
								183	177.5	77.5	2003-00 36	cheduled Da	1 y 5	1// Act	ual Days
14	h 4			· Agraama-	*			* 27	170 0	170 -	2004 AF C.	shadeda A			
				Agreemen				·37	179.5			heduled Da	•		
K-5 C	onf. 4:	:30 to 8	:30 p.m. inc	Agreement cludes 1/2 his ludes 1/2 his	r break			*87 *87 *3 8	179.5 130.5 132.5	· a 3	2003-04 Sc	cheduled Da cheduled Da cheduled Da	lys		

Half-day dismissal times if all buildings are dismissed: MTMS @ $11:10 \ a.m.$

CJH/HS @ 11:30 a.m. Elementary @ 12:15 p.m. Professional Development:

Tuesday, August 29, 2006 Wednesday, August 30, 2006 Thursday, August 31, 2006

Sheet2

Wednesday, November 1, 2006

	K-5	6th-12th)						K-5	6th-12th		Jan. 18 Half-	-day all stu	dents	
Teache	Studen	Student	1					Teacher	Student	Student		Jan. 18 K-7	Profession	nai Development	
Dave	Days	<u>Davs</u>						Days	Days	<u>Days</u>		Jan 18 8-12	Records D	ay	
3	0	0	August					2 2	21.5	21.5	January			•	
				Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday				Monday		Wed.	Thursday	Friday
					1	2	3					4	2	3	4
			6	7	8	9	10				7	8	9	10	11
			13	14	15	16	17				14	15	16	17	18/RD/PD]
Teach	era stari	2000	20	21	22	23	24				21	22	23	24	_
(GEC) N	na steri	2001	27	PD	PD	PD	31				28	29	30	31	25
				, ,			٥.				2.0	29	30	31	
			.												
19	19	19	Septem					20	2 0	2 0	<u>Februar</u>				
			Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday				Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday
							L.D. Hollda	y							1
Stude	nta atari	t 4th	L.D. Hollday		5	6	7				4	5	6	7	8
			10	11	12	13	14				11	12	13	14	15
			17	18	19	2 0	21				Holiday	19	20	21	2 2
			24	2 5	2 6	2 7	2 8				25	2 6	27	2 8	2 9
23	23	23	October	,				19	19	19	March				
20	20			Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday		. •	PTC 6tl		Tuesday	Mad	Thomastan	P./
			1	2	3	4	5			F1C 08	3	4	Wed. 5	Thursday	Friday
			8	9	10	11	12				10	11	12	6	7
			15	16	17	18	19				17	18	19	1 3 2 0	14
			22	23	24	25	26				24	25	26	2 0 2 7	Good Friday
			29	30	31						34	23	20	21	2 8
											•				
											4 - 14				
19		17.5			1441		-	18	18	18	<u>April</u>				
PTC		1.1	-	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	•				Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday
150/	PD St	iplect t	o change	^	-	ISD/PD 8/PTC	2				_	4	2	3-	4-
			5	6	7 14	DD	9				7	8	9	10	11
			12 19	13	21	— 	16				14	15	16	17	18
			26	20 27	28	Thanksgiving 29	30				21	22	23	24	2 5
			20	21	20	29	30				28	29	30		
15	15	15	Decemb	<u>oer</u>				21	21	21	May				
				Tuesday	Wed.	_	-				Monday	Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday
			3	4	5	6	7							1	2
			10	11	12	13	14				5	6	7	8	9
			17	18	19	20	21				12	13	14	15	16
			24	25	26	27	28				19	20	21	2 2	2 3
7	9 74.5	5 74.	.5 31								Holiday	27	2 9	2 9	3 0
								5	4.5	4.5	<u>June</u>				
								-				Tuesday	Wed.	Thursday	Friday
Faci	v Elei	mentar	v Dismiss	al Nov 2 & F	ebruary	29 @ 1:20 p	.m.				2	3	4	•	_
	,		, 5.0								9	10	11	5 12	6/ RD 13
**Pa	rent 1	Teache	r Conf Sci	redule							16	17	18	19	20
	embe										23	24	2 5	2 6	
			7:45 p.m.									-7	25	40	27
			to 7:00 p.m.					184.0	178.5	178.5	2007-08 5/	heduled Da	2V e		
J . 			. p					:84.0	178.5	178.5	200 6- 07 Sc	heduled Da	-/- 1/8		
Marg	h 6th	- as p	er Letter o	f Agreemen	<u>it</u>			.83	177.5			heduled Da		177 Δα	tual Days
				cludes 1/2 hr				187	79.5	179.5	2004-05 Sc	heduled Da	IV S	אני	
				tudes 1/2 hr				137	·30 5	* 33	2003-04 Sc	heduled Da	IVS		
								. 28	-825			heduled Da			
													,-		

Half-day dismissal times if all buildings are dismissed: MTMS @ 11:10 a.m.

CJH/HS @ 11:30 a.m. Elementary @ 12:15 p.m. Professional Development:

Tuesday, August 28, 2007 Wednesday, August 29, 2007 Thursday, August 30, 2007 Sheet1

SD,PD date subject to change Thursday, November 1, 2007

ADDENDUM NO. 1

CADILLAC AREA PUBLIC SCHOOLS AND CADILLAC EDUCATION ASSOCIATION FOR ALTERNATIVE EDUCATION PROGRAM TEACHERS

Agreement

Master Agreement Language

Articles I, II, III, IV

Master Agreement Language

Article V - Compensation and School Calendar

- A. Master Agreement Language
- B. Master Agreement Language
- C-D N/A
- E-I Master Agreement Language
- J. N/A
- K. Master Agreement Language

Article VI - Teaching Hours

- A. N/A Except: Non-teaching time shall be for preparation, consultation, planning, professional work with other staff, administrators, parents, and students, and other work related to the teacher's assignment. Teachers may make use of such time for other necessary purposes when mutually agreed by the principal and teacher. Abuse and misuse of the time given to teachers for conference and preparation will be considered for disciplinary action.
- B-C Master Agreement Language
- D. N/A
- E. Master Agreement Language
- F. The work day for the Alternative Education Program will be mutually agreed upon by the Association and Board.

Article VII - Teaching Loads and Assignments

- A. Master Agreement Language
- B. No teacher should be assigned outside the scope of their major or minor fields of study except in cases that are in the best interest of the students and/or program.
- C-E Master Agreement Language

Article VIII - Teaching Conditions

A1a-b Master Agreement Language

A1c-f N/A

A1g-h Master Agreement Language

A-2 N/A

B-F Master Agreement Language

Articles IX, X, XI, XII, XIII, XIV, XV, XVI

Master Agreement Language

Article XVII - Reduction in Personnel

A-H N/A

I. Seniority

1. New employees hired into the unit as teachers in the Alternative Education Program shall be considered as probationary teachers as prescribed by the Tenure Act.

- 2. The term "seniority" as hereinafter used shall mean length of continuous employment in the Alternative Education Program by the District as a teacher from the last date of hire with this program. Seniority within this program shall not accrue nor be forfeited if a teacher leaves the program and is employed in another teaching or administrative capacity for Cadillac Area Public Schools.
- 3. A teacher shall be "employed" for seniority purposes when performing Alternative Education Program teaching services in the District for pay. Teachers on an unpaid leave of absence will not accrue seniority during the leave of absence. Substitute teachers or reserve teachers shall not accumulate seniority while in that status. Credit for outside the District teaching shall not count for seniority purposes except for the teachers from the Wexford/Missaukee ISD Alternative Education Program that are hired into this program.
- 4. The District shall prepare a seniority list of teachers in the Alternative Education Program by semesters of employment in this program as a teacher from the last date of hire and transmit a copy to the Association on or before the first day of November and March of each year of this contract.
- 5. An employee shall lose his/her seniority for the following reasons only:
 - a. The employee quits or retires.
 - b. The employee is discharged or terminated.
 - c. The employee does not return upon recall within fifteen (15) working days after notification has been sent.
- 6. The seniority list herein is solely for those in the classification of Alternative Education Program teachers and conversely the K-12 teacher seniority list (Ref. K-12 Article XVII, D) is for their classification and, thus, seniority rights may not be transferred between seniority lists.

J. Layoff and Recall

- 1. It is within the sole discretion of the District to reduce the work force in a given program. The order of reduction shall be:
 - a. Probationary teachers shall be laid off first. Probationary teachers will only be laid off provided that a more senior teacher is certified and highly qualified to perform the duties of the position. Tenured teachers must be certified and highly qualified in order to retain their positions.
 - b. In cases involving seniority teacher, the order of reduction shall be by the teacher with the least seniority of those with certification, endorsements, and qualifications for the position reduced.
 - C. Where seniority is equal, management will decide which teacher is to be laid off on the basis of knowledge, skill, and efficiency on the job, as determined by the teachers' classroom visitations and summary evaluation, and consideration of extracurricular activities. It is expressly understood that the Association shall have the right to review the layoff list prior to notification of the individuals to be laid off. In the event of a dispute concerning the layoff list, the Association shall have the right to file a written grievance thereon within not more than seventy-two (72) hours after the termination of the meeting requesting review of the list. It is expressly understood that the Administration shall not be required to engage in creative scheduling to keep the most senior teachers on the staff.
- 2. Any teacher on layoff shall be recalled according to seniority, to the first vacancy in the program, provided the teacher has the certification, endorsements, and qualifications for the position available.
- 3. The District shall give written notice of recall from layoff by sending a registered or certified letter to said teacher, at the teacher's last known address. It shall be the responsibility of each teacher to immediately notify the District of any change in address. The recall list shall be maintained by the District for a period not to exceed three (3) years. Thereafter a teacher shall lose his/her right to recall.
- 4. Any teacher who receives unemployment compensation and then returns to work for a regularly scheduled work year shall reimburse the District the unemployment compensation paid.

AA! = 1 .	1/1 /11		
Articles	XVIII	ang	XIX

Master Agreement Language.

CADILLAC AREA PUBLIC SCHOOLS

BY: Its President

Its Secretary

CADILLAC EDUCATION ASSOCIATION MEA/NEA

BY: Myley a. Hu

BY: Ochra Rensberry
Its Secretary

ADDENDUM NO. 2

CADILLAC AREA PUBLIC SCHOOLS AND CADILLAC EDUCATION ASSOCIATION FOR ADULT DAYTIME HIGH SCHOOL COMPLETION PROGRAM TEACHERS

Agreement

Master Agreement Language

Articles I, II, III, IV

Master Agreement Language

Article V - Compensation and School Calendar

- A. N/A
- B. Master Agreement Language
- C. N/A
- D-I Master Agreement Language
- J. N/A
- K. The calendar will be set by the administration, and the Association, provided it is economically feasible within the program based upon current practices. The calendar will coincide with the Wexford/Missaukee CTC calendar.
- L. The hourly wages of ADHSC teachers covered by this agreement are set forth in Schedule A ADHSC, which is attached to and made part of this Agreement.

Article VI - Teaching Hours

- A. N/A Except: Non-teaching time shall be for preparation, consultation, planning, professional work with other staff, administrators, parents, and students, and other work related to the teacher's assignment. Teachers may make use of such time for other necessary purposes when mutually agreed by the principal and teacher. Abuse and misuse of the time given to teachers for conference and preparation will be considered for disciplinary action.
- B. Master Agreement Language Plus: ADHSC Program teachers shall receive their hourly rate for attendance at required meetings and/or activities.
- C. Master Agreement Language.
- D. Master Agreement Language.
- E. Master Agreement Language.
- F. ADHSC Program teachers, who are scheduled to teach six (6) classes of fifty (50) minutes each, shall work a daily six (6) hour forty-five (45) minute contractual obligation. ADHSC Program teachers who are scheduled to teach five (5) classes of fifty (50) minutes each shall work a daily five (5) hour forty (40) minute contractual obligation. It is understood that some of the ten (10) minute class exchange time is to be used with students in accordance with state rules.

Articles VII, VIII, IX, X, XI, XII, XIII, XIV, XV, XVI

Master Agreement Language.

Article XVII - Reduction in Personnel

A-H N/A

I. Seniority

- 1. New employees hired into the unit as teachers in the Adult Daytime High School Completion Program shall be considered as probationary teachers. Certified teachers employed by the District shall serve a minimum of two (2) years as probationary employees.
- 2. The term "seniority" as hereinafter used shall mean length of continuous employment in the Adult Daytime High School Completion Program by the District as a teacher from the last date of hire with this program. Seniority within the ADHSC program shall not accrue nor be forfeited if a teacher leaves the program and is employed in another teaching or administrative capacity for Cadillac Area Public Schools.

A teacher shall be "employed" for seniority purposes when performing ADHSC Program teaching services in the District for pay. Teachers on an unpaid leave of absence will accrue seniority during the leave of absence. Substitute teachers or reserve teachers shall not accumulate seniority while in that status. Credit for outside the District teaching experience shall not count for seniority purposes. Teachers do not accrue seniority while on layoff.

- 3. Probationary teachers shall not have seniority. Seniority teachers shall accumulate seniority in the Adult Daytime High School Completion Program only while employed in said program or on a paid leave of absence from the program.
- 4. The District shall prepare a seniority list of teachers in the Adult Daytime High School Completion Program by semesters of employment in this program as a teacher from the last date of hire and transmit a copy to the Association on or before the first day of November and March of each year of this contract.
- 5. An employee shall lose his/her seniority for the following reasons only:
 - The employee quits or retires.
 - b. The employee is discharged or terminated.
 - c. The employee does not return upon recall within fifteen (15) working days after notification has been sent.
- The seniority list herein is solely for those in the classification of Adult Daytime High School Completion Program teachers and conversely the K-12 teacher seniority list (Ref. K-12 Article XVII, D) is for their classification and, thus, seniority rights may not be transferred between seniority lists.

J. Layoff and Recall

- 1. It is within the sole discretion of the District to reduce the work force in a given program. The order of reduction shall be:
 - a. Probationary teachers shall be laid off first. Probationary teachers will only be laid off provided that a more senior teacher is certified

and qualified to perform the duties of the position. teachers must be certified and qualified in order to retain their positions.

In cases involving seniority teacher, the order of reduction shall be b. by the teacher with the least seniority of those with certification,

endorsements, and qualifications for the position reduced.

- Where seniority is equal, management will decide which teacher is C. to be laid off on the basis of knowledge, skill, and efficiency on the job, as determined by the teachers' classroom visitations and summary evaluation, and consideration of extracurricular activities. It is expressly understood that the Association shall have the right to review the layoff list prior to notification of the individuals to be laid off. In the event of a dispute concerning the layoff list, the Association shall have the right to file a written grievance thereon within not more than seventy-two (72) hours after the termination of the meeting requesting review of the list. It is expressly understood that the Administration shall not be required to engage in creative scheduling to keep the most senior teachers on the staff.
- Any teacher on layoff shall be recalled according to seniority, to the first 2. vacancy in the program, provided the teacher has the certification, endorsements, and qualifications for the position available.
- The District shall give written notice of recall from layoff by sending a 3. registered or certified letter to said teacher, at the teacher's last known address. It shall be the responsibility of each teacher to immediately notify the District of any change in address. The recall list shall be maintained by the District for a period not to exceed three (3) years. Thereafter a teacher shall lose his/her right to recall.

Article XVIII - Miscellaneous Provisions

Master Agreement Language.

Article XIX - Agreement

This addendum is effective as of the 1st day of September 2006, and shall continue through August 31, 2008.

CADILLAC AREA PUBLIC SCHOOLS BY:

Its Segretary

CADILLAC EDUCATION ASSOCIATION MEA/NEA

Schedule A

ADHSC

1.	\$26.11 \$26.83
2.	\$27.54 \$28.03
3.	\$28.51 \$28.99
4.	\$29.49 \$29.98
5.	\$30.45 \$31.06
6.	\$31.08 \$32.31
7.	\$32.91 \$33.64
8.	\$34.37 \$36.09
9.	\$36.82 \$37.59
10.	\$38.31 \$39.09
11.	\$39.84 \$40.66

Schedule B N/A

<u>Schedule C - K-12 School Calendar</u> N/A

Schedule I – Intent Master Agreement Language

Appendix E-1 Letter of Understanding

A. Early Retirement Incentive

- 1. A teacher who will have completed a minimum of twenty-seven (27) years of public school service recognized by the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System by June 30 of any year but does not yet qualify for benefits under the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System and has been an employee in the Cadillac Area Public Schools as a full-time teacher for twelve (12) consecutive years shall receive the full cost necessary to bring their service credit in the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System (MPSERS) to thirty (30) years. The "full cost" is calculated from the actuarial cost table for purchasing universal buy-in credit provided by MPSERS. However, the Board's payment shall be calculated on the teacher's base salary including extra pay items and shall not exceed the teacher's final average. The District will provide the above benefit annually for two (2) teachers (based on seniority) who have twenty-six (26) years of creditable service in the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System.
- 2. An eligible teacher under this provision shall submit an application to the superintendent by March 1 of the year of retirement. The application for benefits shall also include a letter of resignation for retirement purposes, a copy of the application to purchase universal buy-in credit, and a copy of the employee's application to the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System to retire from active service prior to June 30.
- 3. Payment shall be made to the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System prior to June 1 of the school year of retirement in the name of the teacher along with the billing for universal buy-in credit provided by Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System.

(Note: Employees are encouraged to complete a "Members Statement of Service" MPSERS Form R50C (R4/89) prior to December 1 of the school year of retirement.)

B. In the event that the total number of teachers making application for the incentive listed above requires funding that will exceed the funds available, the total number of teachers that will be allowed to participate shall be determined on the basis of teachers' positions on the most current seniority list. If a teacher is not allowed to participate due to this provision, he/she shall have his/her eligibility preserved until the following year, should the teacher wish to reapply.

Appendix E-2 Retirement Supplement Stipend

Acknowledgment and Release

, hereby acknowledge and affirm that I have voluntarily ected to retire at the conclusion of the 20 school year, commence my retirement benefits
om the Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System and receive the retirement upplement stipend of years of universal buy-in credit from the School District as additional consideration for my retirement at this time. Thus, I hereby discharge and release
the Cadillac Area Public Schools, its Board of Education, employees and agents from any and I claims, demands and/or causes of action I have or may presently have against them by asson of my retirement and acceptance of the retirement supplement stipend, including those rising under the Federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act or the Michigan Elliott-Larsen
ivil Rights Act.

Further, I acknowledge that I have been advised in writing to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Acknowledgement and Release and that I have at all times had the opportunity to consult with an attorney of my choosing and/or seek other consultation and advice from Association representatives or others with respect to the content and terms of the Acknowledgement and Release and the tax consequences of the retirement supplement stipend to be received by me. I hereby acknowledge that no representations have been made to me by any representative, employee or agent of the Cadillac Area Public Schools and/or the Cadillac Education Association with respect to the tax consequences of the retirement supplement stipend payment to be made to me. Further, I acknowledge and accept the tax consequences and liability resulting from the retirement supplement stipend payment made to me as my personal liability and will not attempt to hold any representative, agent or employee of the Cadillac Area Public Schools or the Cadillac Education Association responsible for any tax consequence or liability resulting therefrom.

Further, I hereby acknowledge that I have been provided at least forty-five (45) days within which to consider the terms of this Acknowledgement and Release and the decision to retire and accept the retirement supplement stipend. Further, I acknowledge that I am provided a period of at least seven (7) days following the execution of this Acknowledgement and Release within which to revoke it and that it shall not become effective or enforceable until the seven (7) day revocation period has expired. Also, I acknowledge that this Acknowledgment and Release does not waive any rights or claims that may arise after the date it is signed and executed by me. Further, I hereby acknowledge that I have been informed in writing of the employees eligible for the time limits applicable to receive payment of that benefit. Also, I acknowledge that I have received written notification of the job titles and ages of all individuals eligible or selected to receive the retirement supplement stipend payment benefit and the ages of any individuals in the bargaining unit who are not eligible for the benefit.

This Acknowledgement and Release is he, 20, as follows:	ereby signed and executed by me this day of
	, Retiree
STATE OF MICHIGAN COUNTY OF	
, known and	, 20, before me personally appeared identified to be the person described herein and and executes the foregoing instrument and and deed.
	Notary Public
	County, Michigan My Commission Expires:
FOR CADILLAC AREA PUBLIC SCHOOLS	FOR CADILLAC EDUCATION ASSOCIATION
By	By
lts	lts

Appendix F Statement of Intent

To Teaching Staff:

It is important at this time of year that the school district have an indication of possible faculty vacancies for the next year.

It is also helpful to building principals to know what staff plans are for the coming year, and if any change of assignment is desired.

As is required in Article IX, Section D, of the present contract, the following is being submitted.

Ρ	lease	e check one of the following:
()	I plan on retiring from the teaching profession at the end of this school year.
()	I plan to return to Cadillac Area Public Schools next year.
()	I am presently undecided about next year's employment.
()	I desire a change in teaching assignment, or building transfer within the school system next year. Please contact me for further discussion on a transfer.
()	I would like to be considered for an administrative position if one becomes available.
()	I wish to work part-time for the next () one, or () two, or () three school years – Article VII, C.
		-OR-
()	I wish to return to full-time for the () next school year or () possible the year after next.
()	Other
F	aculty	/ Signature

###

Your contract requires the distribution of this form to all faculty staff by February 15 and its return to the building principal by the 28th of February. Thereafter, but not later than March 15, the Board of Education shall post the vacancies indicated, as required in Article IX, Section D.

Sincerely,

Paul Liabenow Superintendent of Schools

Appendix G Summer School Intercessions

Instructional positions will be determined based on the number signed up for each activity. The goal is to have smaller groups than during the school year.

Positions will be posted per the Master Agreement.

CEA members/CAPS teachers will be given preference where qualified for the positions.

Vacancy will be filled from within the bargaining unit provided a certified and qualified bargaining unit member applies for the vacancy.

A. For Original / First Time / Credit Class

Certified Staff – when the course is offered to students who have not taken the course and when the course objectives have been determined to meet the qualifications for both high school credit and a letter grade. (Credit/non-credit options may also be included if determined in advance.) Class size shall be subject only to Article VIII.

Pay rate for the above formats will be based on hourly rates per the attached Schedule from 1994-95, per diem with credit for years of experience and degree; BA, BA+30 and MA (Salary steps above 10 or longevity shall not be recognized for Intercession).

B. For remediation, make up or to remove a "failure" from no credit to credit but no grade.

Class size will be limited to a range of 5-15.

For 9th grade and high school students (certified staff required): Students must have been given a prescription and may only attend to complete prescription – as determined by the Intercession teacher.

For junior high, middle school and elementary:

May be placed in course upon the recommendation of former teacher, etc. or may attend on interest.

Pay rate will be \$24.00 per hour of actual instructional time.

C. Non-Academic Offerings (recreational, experimental and enrichment)

Rate and duration to be determined by Community Schools.

From 1994-95 Schedule A Per Diem, 185 days – 5 hours per day

<u>Step</u>	<u>BA</u>	BA+30	<u>MA</u>
1.0	26.92	27.46	28.66
1.5	27.65	28.19	29.49
2.0	28.38	28.92	30.30
2.5	28.88	29.42	30.85
3.0	29.39	29.93	31.40
3.5	29.89	30.43	31.92
4.0	30.39	30.93	32.45
4.5	30.89	31.44	33.00
5.0	31.40	31.94	33.55
5.5	32.03	32.57	34.23
6.0	32.66	33.20	34.91
6.5	33.29	33.83	35.58
7.0	33.91	34.45	36.26
7.5	34.67	35.20	37.07
8.0	35.42	35.96	37.88
8.5	37.19	37.73	39.78
9.0	37.96	39.28	40.61
9.5	38.74	39.28	41.44
10.0	39.52	40.06	42.28

Cadillac Area Public Schools Board of Education & the Cadillac Education Association

Letter of Agreement

The Cadillac Board of Education and the Cadillac Education Association agree that the daytime adult education employees, Dave Niles and Wayne Sterner, serving the CAPS adult daytime programs as well as Dropout Recovery program will be paid on the Schedule A pay scale. Each employee will receive credit for their current experience and level of education completed. In addition, summer hours worked beyond the regular district calendar closing date will be paid at the special projects summer school rate of pay as per Article V, Section I of the Master Agreement. This letter of agreement expires with the expiration of the Master Agreement on August 31, 2006.

We further agree that this pay adjustment applies only to the two employees, David Niles and Wayne Sterner. The above adjustment will not be offered to new employees hired into the program, or to the present employees, if the Drop-Out Recovery enrollment drops less than three students or is discontinued.

In addition, the agreement does not establish Alternative School seniority in the collective bargaining agreement. Further, the teachers named above will remain under the guidelines of Addendum #2, pages 52-55 of the collective bargaining agreement of the Adult Education Program with this one amendment

Cadillac Area Public Schools

Cadillac Education Association

Dated -

Dated

Letter of Understanding Between

Cadillac Education Association and Cadillac Area Public Schools

In reference to Article XVII, J.4:

The intent of this Article and Section is to prevent staff members from collecting revenue from both the Michigan Unemployment Security System and Cadillac Area Public Schools at the same time. If an employee collects his/her unemployment compensation and then returns to work with no loss of pay, they must reimburse the district the unemployment compensation that was paid to them.

			~	
Cadillac	Area	Public	School	C

date 10/2/00

Cadillac Faucation Association

data